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1. TIMELINE

1142 CE Dish with One Spoon Agreement

1760s Chippewas of the Thames First Nation Settle

1770s Munsee-Delaware Nation Settles on Thames River

1796 London Township Treaty

1826 London Established as a Village

1840 Oneida Settle on the Thames

1842 First School in SoHo Opened

1848 ‘Fugitive Slave Chapel’ Constructed

1855 City of London Incorporated

1856 Beth Emanuel British Methodist Episcopal Church Established

1881 Western Medical School Opened

1883 Hamilton Road (Aberdeen) School Founded

1887 Simcoe School Founded

1899 Hebrew Benevolent Synagogue Established

1906 B'nai Moses Ben Judah Synagogue Established
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1914-18 First World War

1921 South Street Medical School Opened

1922 War Memorial Children’s Hospital Opened

1923 The Dawn of Tomorrow Newspaper Founded

1924 Canadian League for the Advancement of Colored People Founded

1927 Talmud Torah Hebrew School Opened

1937 Major Flooding of the Thames

1939-45 Second World War

1949 War Memorial Hospital Expanded

1954 Our Lady of Czestochowa Polish Roman Catholic Church Founded

1965 Victoria Hospital Purchases Medical School

1965 N’Amerind Friendship Centre Founded

1976 Simcoe Street School Closed

1985 Children’s Hospital Closed

2013 Victoria Hospital Closed

2015 Hospital Demolition Begun
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2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 Executive Summary

Convened by the London Community Foundation, the Vision SoHo Alliance (VSA) is a

partnership between six non-profit housing developers–Chelsea Green Home Society, Homes

Unlimited, Indwell, Residenza Affordable Housing, London Affordable Housing Foundation,

and Zerin Development Corporation. The alliance will create 680 units, of which 50% will be

affordable, in seven buildings on the former South Street Victoria Hospital property. Most

buildings, including two heritage buildings–the Faculty of Medicine and War Memorial

Children’s Hospital–will be located on the block bounded by Waterloo, South, Colborne, and

Hill streets. Another will be constructed at the northeast corner of South and Colborne.

In 2021, the VSA tasked Western’s MA Public History program with researching and

compiling stories of St David’s Ward, now known as the South of Horton, or SoHo

neighbourhood (bounded by the Canadian National Railway, Adelaide Street, and the Thames

River as a natural south-west barrier), the former Western Faculty of Medicine (1921), and the
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War Memorial Children’s Hospital (1922). This research included interviewing Londoners

who have or had ties to the neighbourhood. This effort aims to preserve the history of one of

the oldest and most culturally diverse areas in London, and one which changed

demographically after the medical school moved to Western’s main campus in 1965, the

moving of many factories, and the closing of War Memorial in 1985 and Victoria Hospital in

2013. With the city of London, Western’s MA Public History students will use the compiled

research and recordings to curate digitally-interactive historical signs installed in the green

spaces of the alliance’s property. Ultimately, the VSA signs will create a sense of place through

history for future tenants and help them invest in their new homes.

The goals of this report are to:

● Document the history of SoHo, including Indigenous presence, British and

European immigration, and neighbourhood culture;

● Create a thematic overview of the neighbourhood, the medical school, and War

Memorial Children’s Hospital;

● Compile associated stories, memories, and photographs provided by the public.
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2.2 Methodology

Each year the Master’s in Public History program partners with a community organisation to

create a historical product of use to Londoners. In summer 2021, the Vision SoHo Alliance

approached us with an idea to curate interpretive historical signage for the green spaces of its

new development on the grounds of the former Victoria Hospital on South Street. This idea

stems from the alliance’s wish to create a sense of place through history for future tenants and in

turn bolster their pride and investment in this new community. The alliance tasked the Public

History program with researching the life of its two heritage buildings–the Faculty of Medicine

and War Memorial Children’s Hospital–and the broader history of the SoHo area, with an

emphasis on its ethnic and cultural diversity. We completed two years of research in spring 2023,

producing a first-year research report in 2022, and now this one in 2023. We publicly presented

our research at the end of each year. Curation of the interpretative signs, including digitally

interactive elements, begins later this year.

The Faculty of Medicine and the War

Memorial Children’s Hospital left behind a

wealth of archival information, now mostly

cared for by Western’s Archives and at the

Westminster campus of Victoria Hospital.

Museum London holds many artifacts and

assorted photographs.

Writing the broader history of SoHo

is trickier. While local historians have

researched the area for decades, no

published community history exists, unlike

other London neighbourhoods. Instead we

dug into censuses, diaries, city directories,

scrapbooks, factory and church records,

newspapers, and old oral histories, and

invited Londoners to tell us their stories.
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We called for stories through the press, radio, social media, and word of mouth, with an

overwhelming response from local historians, former and current SoHo residents, community

organisations, and doctors, nurses, alumni, and staff of the medical school and hospital system.

In summer 2022 undergraduate intern Cristi Jerez researched the SoHo men and women who

participated in the First and Second World Wars to illustrate the context of the location and

expansion of the War Memorial Children’s Hospital. Paige Milner interviewed Londoners about

the history of hosiery factory work, focusing on women’s work, under the auspices of the

Heritage London Foundation. In fall 2022 graduate research assistants Mary Summerby and

Mabel Gardner sought out pictures of veterans and helped us read the Black-authored The Dawn

of Tomorrow newspaper from beginning to end. Full audio recordings and transcripts of all our

interviews will be deposited at the Archives and Special Collections at Western. We hope that in

the future, historians and Londoners will mine them to research other community projects.
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2.3 Looking Back

In January 2014, Dr Roya Etemad-Razi revisited an empty Victoria Hospital. The London

Health Sciences Centre hosted an open house and invited the public to walk through Victoria

Hospital one last time.With a foreboding gloom hanging in the air and the dread of coming

demolition, its rooms seemed like hollow shells of their former life. Nurses, doctors, staff, former

patients, and neighbourhood residents arrived that January morning to pay tribute to the buildings

that symbolised their careers, education, and community. The culture of Victoria Hospital

impacted Dr Etemad-Razi who fondly remembered her radiology residency there between

1996-97.

The experiences that that old building held. I never
expected to have such an emotional reaction, but what
that building used to be, what it meant to me, in my first
year, and everything I learned, all the people that I knew.
A lot of people who worked there, they had a connection,
so it was not just an old building, I mean, it was home for
us, you know you spend so many hours there.

Londoners experienced similar emotional

connections to the building. During the open house,

visitors used the white hospital walls as a canvas to share

their memories and messages. Dr Etemad-Razi

affectionately described these written stories as a “love

letter to the building.”1

While most of Victoria Hospital has since been

demolished, the former medical school (later the Health

Services Building), the War Memorial Children’s Hospital, and the Colborne building still stand

as a reminder of South Street’s former legacy as a medical hub and bustling centre for research

and medical care.

1 Dr Roya Etemad-Razi, Interview with Madeline Shaw and Avraham Shaver, November 18, 2021.
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3. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD

3.1 Indigenous Presence, Treaties, and European Settlement

Before European settlement, the Attiwandaron (Neutral), Anishinaabeg, Huron-Wendat,

Haudenosaunee (Five later Six Nations Confederacy), and the Lūnaapéewak (Munsee-Delaware)

inhabited the area at different times. Although there are many smaller sites, archaeologists have

excavated three villages in London: the Praying Mantis site in Byron, Norton site in Kensal Park

(c1400), and the Lawson site (c1500), now at the Museum of Ontario Archaeology. Although no

village site has been found specifically in SoHo, the Thames River and its banks were important

sites for agriculture, trading, and travel.

In the early 1600s the Haudenosaunee, at that point living outside the edges of the Dutch

colony New Amsterdam (later New York), displaced and adopted the Attiwandaron. In 1613, the

Haudenosaunee and the Dutch

negotiated the Two Row Wampum

treaty. According to Indigenous

knowledge keepers, as the Dutch

entered Haudenosaunee territory and

began clearing the land,

representatives from both groups

agreed how the nations would relate to

one another.2 The resulting Two Row

Wampum treaty is a legal agreement

that recognizes the coexistence of the Haudenosaunee and the Dutch settlers through text and the

words beaded into Two Row Wampum Belt. This belt is considered a ‘living treaty’ and a model

for relationships between the Haudenosaunee and other nations.

The wampum belt shows two rows, or boats, representing the Haundenosaunee and

European peoples, navigating the river of life side-by-side without overlapping or interfering

with one another. This agreement allowed both parties to maintain their own respective authority,

2 Karine Duhamel, “Peace, Friendship and Respect: The Meaning of the Two Row Wampum,” Canadian Museum
for Human Rights (2022), https://humanrights.ca/story/peace-friendship-and-respect (December 20, 2022).
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beliefs, and laws without imposing influence or control over each other. The treaty stressed the

three principles of friendship, peace, and respect through an everlasting agreement. As long as

the sun always makes it bright on earth, the waters flow in a certain direction and the wild

grasses grow at a certain time, the agreement will continue.3

In 1701, the Haudenosaunee and the Anishinaabeg ended decades of war with the Dish

with One Spoon agreement in which all parties agreed to share and steward the resources of the

Great Lakes area without giving up sovereignty. The Dish with One Spoon wampum belt uses a

purple dish to represent the land and resources provided for all. A spoon rather than a knife

represents peaceful co-existence.4

The same year, the Haudenosaunee entered into the Nanfan Treaty which signed over the

Beaver Hunting Grounds, including what became southwestern Ontario, for protection by the

British Crown.5 Decades later, following the McKee Treaty 2 in 1790, the crown gained more

control of the land, including that south of the Thames River.6

The British government created the province of Upper Canada in 1791. Two years later in

1793, Lieutenant-Governor John Graves Simcoe decided that the forks of the Thames River, then

6 For treaties relevant to London and Middlesex, see Stephen D'Arcy, “London (Ontario) Area Treaties: An
Introductory Guide,” 2018, https://works.bepress.com/sdarcy/19/ (May 3, 2022).

5 Nanfan Treaty, Transcription, Iroquois Indians: A Documentary History, ed. Francis Jennings, William N. Fenton,
Mary Druke Becker (Woodbridge: Research Publications, 1984), Reel 6, 908-11.

4 Dean M. Jacobs and Victor P. Lytwyn, “Naagan ge bezhig emkwaan: A Dish with One Spoon Reconsidered,”
Ontario History 112, 2 (2020): 194-200.

3 Rick Hill, “Talking Points on History and Meaning of the Two Row Wampum Belt,” March 2013, http://honorthe.
wwwmi3-ss62.a2hosted.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/TwoRowTalkingPoints-Rick-Hill.pdf (December 20,
2022); “Two Row Wampum – Gaswéñdah,” Onondaga Nation, https://www.onondaganation.org/culture/wampum/
two- row-wampum-belt-guswenta/ (May 3, 2022).
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known as the Deshkan Ziibi (Antler River) by the Anishinaabeg or La Tranche (the Trench) by

French fur traders, should be the capital of Upper Canada. Consequently, the British Crown and

the Anishinaabeg signed the London Township Purchase or Treaty 6 in 1796. The treaty states

that land was “sold and disposed” for some $9000 worth of goods. Oral traditions today state

that the written document does not reflect the original spoken agreement.

The north shore of the Thames River formed the boundary of this agreement. Settlement

was slow and it was not until 1826 that London was officially founded, and named after Great

Britain’s capital. The last treaty specific to the London area is the Huron Tract Treaty of 1827, or

Treaty 29, between the Crown and eighteen Anishnaabe chiefs covers approximately 2.2 million

acres of land. This includes parts of Middlesex, Perth and Huron counties.

Indigenous peoples remained in the area and still live in London. In 2011, about 2% of

London’s urban population reported Indigenous identity, and the National Household Survey

estimated that 5,165 Indigenous adults (fifteen years+) lived in London.7 In 2016, Statistics

Canada’s census indicated 8,410 Indigenous adults (eighteen years+) in the city. However,

national censuses undercount Indigenous peoples. Only 14% of Indigenous adults in London

completed the 2011 census and only 9% completed the National Household Survey. Our Health

Counts London study findings indicated 17,108 to 22,155 Indigenous adults in London in 2018,

about three to four times more than estimated by Statistics Canada.8 While it is difficult to

pinpoint exact numbers for urban Indigenous people in London, these statistics show a growing

presence nonetheless.

Many Indigenous residents come from the three communities located nearby. In 1760, the

Deshkan Ziibiing Anishinaabeg (Chippewas of the Thames First Nation) established a

community approximately twenty kilometres southwest of London along the Thames River.

They are also a part of the Three Fires Confederacy with the Odawa and Bodaywadami, two

other Indigenous groups in Ontario. In 2023, Deshkan Ziibiing Anishinaabeg registered just over

8 Michelle Firestone, Brian Dokis, Raglan Maddox, Gertie Mai Muise, Kristen O’Brien, Janet Smylie, and Chloé
Xavier, “Our Health Counts London: Adult Demographics,” 2018, https://soahac.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/
09/OHC-02A-Adult-Demographics-2.pdf (December 20, 2022).

7 Andrea Cox, “Change-Makers Honoured through Fundraiser for Women's Shelter,” Londoner, October 2, 2018,
https://www.thelondoner.ca/news/local-news/change-makers-honoured-through-fundraiser-for-womens-shelter (May
3, 2022).

SoHo STORY | 10



3000 residents with one third on reserve.9 The Minisink Lunaape (Munsee-Delaware Nation)

settled along the Thames River in the 1780s. In 1840, the Onyota’a:ke (Oneida Nation of the

Thames), one group of the Haudenosaunee, moved from the United States and purchased land

along the Thames River eastern shore about thirty kilometres south of London.10 Today

Onyota’a:ke is home to about 2,221 residents but includes around 6,376 members.11 Each of

these Indigenous communities have their own governance and administration, and provide

various support for community members both on and off reserve.

St. David’s Ward, as SoHo was originally named, lies immediately south of London’s

core, bordered by the Canadian National Railways line on the north, Adelaide Street on the east,

and on the other two sides, the curving Thames River. One of the first areas of the city to be

developed, the area was included within the boundaries of an 1816 sketch of the city.12 An 1824

plan shows the streets of the ward, built on a grid system, with the only irregular borders being

the Thames.13 Later, Hamilton Road was constructed diagonally through the north-east corner of

the neighbourhood. Except South Street which was also known as Ottaway Street, currently all

of the streets have retained their names from the original 1824 plan.

In 2021, the city of London announced it would review existing street-naming policies

and explore renaming problematic streets, buildings, and parks across London. This comes after

growing global debates around “what’s in a name?” and the decolonisation of public spaces.

Vancouver was the first city in Canada to aggressively address this issue with its “150+Place

Naming Project” in 2017.14 This project brought to light how renaming Indigenous land was not

only used to claim land and to celebrate colonial figures but also to erase the visibility of

thousands of years of Indigenous habitation. Land along the Thames River with archeological

14 Vancouver Council, “Motion on Notice: b2. 150+ Place Naming Project,” March, 28 2017,
https://council.vancouver.ca/20170328/documents/motionb2.pdf (December 20, 2022).

13 Quebec, Department of Crown Lands, Plan of London (1824), Map and Data Centre, ASCWU, https://ir.lib.uwo.
ca/mdc-London-maps/15/ (May 3, 2022).

12 Sketch of the fork of the River Thames, shewing(sic) the site for the City of London, 1816 (London?, 1816), Map
and Data Centre, Archives and Special Collections, Western University (hererafter ASCWU), https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/
mdc London-maps/6/ (May 3, 2022).

11 Oneida Nation of the Thames, https://oneida.on.ca/ (December 20, 2022).
10 D'Arcy, “London (Ontario) Area Treaties,” 8.

9 Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs, Chippewas of the Thames First Nation, Registered Population,
2023, https://fnp-ppn.aadnc-aandc.gc.ca/fnp/Main/Search/FNRegPopulation.aspx?BAND_NUMBER=166&lang=
eng (November 11, 2023).
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findings and Indigenous oral stories show that it was an important area of Indigenous habitation,

trade, and travel. No street names in SoHo honour this history. Instead, streets like Bathurst,

Horton, Clarence, Hill, Wellington, Richmond, Maitland, Adelaide, William, Grey, and Colborne

streets are named after British colonial officials and members of the royal family. Waterloo

reminds Londoners of the British triumph over Napoleon in 1815. Simcoe Street is named after

Lord John Graves Simcoe, Upper Canada’s first lieutenant-governor. Simcoe also renamed

Indigenous waterways, roads, and communities in Upper Canada. This included renaming the

“Antler River” (Deshkaan-ziibi /Eshkani-ziibi) the Thames in 1793 after the River Thames in

England. Thames Street, just east of the river, takes its name from Simcoe as well.15

Issues around the naming of streets, such as Dundas Street, concern other minority

groups, especially London’s Black community through the commemoration of those involved in

the slave trade. The city of London has begun consultation with community experts and the

public to establish new street-naming policies that use a critical anti-racist and anti-oppressive

lens. This plan will also include a list of problematic names around the city that require further

historical investigation. The city aims to have a new policy developed by spring 2023 and a

budget plan for 2023-24.16

16 Megan Stacey, “The Long Road to London's New Policy for Changing Street Names,” London Free Press
(hereafter LFP), November 23, 2021, https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/the-long-road-to-londons-new-policy-for
for-changing- street-names (December 20, 2022).

15 Harriett Priddis, “The Naming of London Streets,” London and Middlesex Historical Society Transactions (1909):
7-30.
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3.2 Transportation and Infrastructure

The Thames River bounds SoHo on the south and west. Several bridges connected the

neighbourhood to Westminster Township which lay to the south of the Thames. Built in 1826,

the first to cross the Thames was Westminster Bridge, which today connects York and Stanley

streets. In the late 1800s, the city built two more bridges–one at Wellington known as Clark’s

Bridge and a rail bridge slightly north of Bathurst known as the South Branch Railway Bridge. In

the early twentieth century, the city built bridges at Ridout, Richmond, and Adelaide.17

Map of SoHo, 2022. Courtesy of Keely Shaw.

Great Western, Grand Trunk, and London and Port Stanley railways laid track in the early

1850s. From Great Western, the first train arrived in London in 1853, and stopped at the new

station near Bathurst Street. The station was originally named after the Great Western Railway,

17 Thames River Background Study Research Team, The Thames River Watershed: A Background Study for
Nomination under the Canadian Heritage Rivers System (London: Upper Thames River Conservation Authority for
the Thames River Coordinating Committee, 1998), 79; Nathan Holth, London South Branch Railway Bridge,
HistoricBridges.org, https://historicbridges.org/bridges/browser/?bridgebrowser=truss/ londonsb/ and Victoria
Bridge--Ridout Street Bridge, HistoricBridges.org, https://historicbridges.org/bridges/browser/?bridgebrowser=
russ/ridout/ (April 10, 2022).
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but when Grand Trunk and Great Western amalgamated in 1882 the owners renamed it to reflect

Grand Trunk’s ownership. A Canadian National Railways station replaced the original in 1935.

The London and Port Stanley line began operation in 1856, and transported coal, wood,

and other supplies between London, St. Thomas, and Port Stanley. When the city took over

operation in 1913, it converted the line to electric. This had the unintended effect of increasing

tourism to Port Stanley, as Londoners began using the train to go to the port.18 Most importantly,

all three railways crossed through SoHo. They made the land more desirable to manufacturers as

they allowed for easy transportation of goods both to and from factories.

18 Port Stanley Terminal Rail, A Brief History of the L&PS and PSTR, Port Stanley Terminal Railway, https://www.
pstr.on.ca/history.htm (April 4, 2022).
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3.3 The Thames River

3.3.1 Major Environmental Events

The Thames River is mostly stable with little meander migration, that is, it does not have the

power to eat significantly at its banks or change course. This does not mean that the areas near

the river are free from erosion or shifting, but rather that there have not been significant changes

in the course of the Thames over the last century. Flooding is a much larger threat, and one

Londoners knew well. In SoHo, Nelson, Clarence, Hill, South, Maitland, and Thames streets run

quite close to the river banks. Over 120 known floods occurred after 1792, and as the areas

around the river became settled, the need for flood control grew. The city built its first dyke in

the 1880s, the West London Dyke, on the north side of the forks, but it was ineffective at

controlling major floods. In 1904, an ice jam at the town of St. Marys broke, flooding London

and surrounding townships despite their efforts at prevention. The city government rebuilt and

improved the West London Dyke in 1905 by rebuilding, raising, and extending it. While the

improved dykes did not protect all areas from flooding, it mitigated the damage significantly for

the next twenty-five years.20

The protection did not last. At the end of April 1937, unrelenting torrential rain and the

normal erosion of river banks at the end of winter resulted in the worst flood in SoHo to date.

The fast-rising water carried away untreated sewage and pieces of scrap metal factories had

thrown into the river. In an effort to stabilise the bridges and prevent water from rising further,

people threw bricks into the river and sandbagged its banks and around their homes. Ten feet of

water flooded Hill Street Park, obscuring benches and fences. On April 27, at the peak of the

flood, rising waters stood at twenty-three feet above normal level. The south side of the King

Street bridge flooded into Thames Street. The water surged back and forth up the street. The

waters rose faster than normal, causing many to retreat to the roofs of their houses, calling for

help or firing shotguns for attention. The water destroyed many homes, breaking down doors,

20 Thames River Research Team, Thames River Watershed, 24, 98-99; Upper Thames River Conservation Authority,
Flooding on the Thames River, https://thamesriver.on.ca/water-management/flooding-on-the-thames-river/ (April 5,
2022); Upper Thames River Conservation Authority, The City of London Dyke System, https://thamesriver.on.ca/
water- management/flood-control-structures/london-dyke-system/ (April 5, 2022); Upper Thames River
Conservation Authority, West London Dyke, https://thamesriver.on.ca/water-management/flood-control-structures/
london-dyke-system/west-london-dyke/ (April 5, 2022).
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offering patients additional health benefits from their interactions with the landscape. On its

opening day, visitors delighted in the beautiful sunrooms connected to the private and public

wards which offered a panoramic view of the Thames and nearby farmland.27

Children played along the river. Famous tap dancer Joey Hollingsworth recalled hunting

for snakes along the Thames for fun.28 Rob Burns played in the river during his summers in the

1940s, exploring the naturally made beaches or one of the ‘islands’ in the Thames. In the winter,

Burns remembered floating downstream on large chunks of ice.29 Mary Pavia-Melvin recalled

similar experiences in her teenage years. Children developed their own routes weaving through

the neighbourhood to avoid busy roads to reach the river. Once there, Melvin and her friends

jumped off the trestle bridge near Chelsea Green into the water.30

Melvin also recounted the darker story of pollution in the Thames River from nearby

businesses which dumped debris and chemicals into the river. She recalled chemicals coming

from businesses such as Vanadium Alloys-Steel Canada Ltd on Philip Street and General Steel

Wares (formerly McClary’s) on Adelaide. In some instances, the Thames frothed up from the

excess yeast coming from Labatt Brewery. Large debris was also common in the river, presenting

additional environmental hazards and safety issues.31

Locals made limited efforts to clean up the river over the years. In the 1930s, longtime

London Mayor George Wenige published campaign advertisements in The Dawn of Tomorrow.

Addressing the campaign to the Black community, Wenige promised to “clean up the river

Thames by relief labour paid in cash” if elected.32 This concern did not dissipate, as he again

promised to clean up the waterfront in his 1937 campaign.33 Wenige's outreach to the Black

community highlighted that this issue was important to these residents. There is unfortunately no

record of these promises materialising during this period. It was not until the 1980s that interest

33 “Get London in March with the Step of Time,” DoT, December 1937, 3.
32 “Vote for G.A. Wenige,” The Dawn of Tomorrow (hereafter DoT), November 1934, 7.
31 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
30 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.

29 Ron Burns - 75 Wellington Street, Hear, Here London, https://www.hearherelondon.org/stories/ron-burns/ (March
30, 2023).

28 Joey Hollingsworth, Interview with Zahra McDoom and Sarah Pointer, February 17, 2023.

27 John R. Sullivan and Norman R. Ball, Growing to Serve… A History of Victoria Hospital, London, Ontario
(London: Victoria Hospital Corporation, 1985), 64.

Therapeutic Regime of the British Asylum, 1800-60,” History of Psychiatry 20, 4 (2009): 425-26.
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groups began cleaning up the river.34 Today, there are ongoing issues with pollutants in the

Thames River, negatively impacting water quality.35 This has affected Indigenous communities

downstream including Oneida of the Thames Nation, under a boil-water advisory since 2019.36

36 Andrew Lupton, “Oneida Nation of the Thames gets $43m from Ottawa for Clean Drinking Water,” CBC News,
March 23, 2023, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/london/oneida-nation-thames-clean-drinking-water-ottawa-
funding-1.6788184#:~:text=A%20boil%2Dwater%20advisory%20has,state%20of%20emergency%20in%20Decem
ber (April 12, 2023).

35 Megan Stacey, “The latest on London's battle to keep sewage from the Thames River,” LFP, April 21, 2021,
https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/the-latest-on-londons-battle-to-keep-sewage-from-the-thames-river (April 12,
2023).

34 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
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3.4 Work and Labour

Residents of SoHo often worked in the neighbourhood, at various factories and manufacturers,

on the railway, and at Victoria Hospital.

3.4.1 City Mills

Some of the earliest factories in London were Labatt Brewing Co., founded by John Labatt, and

City Mills, founded by Charles Hunt. These two businesses sat on the eastern bank of the

Thames between Simcoe and Grey streets. Today, Labatt has expanded to take up this entire area,

but John Labatt originally sold the land City Mills sat on to Hunt in 1853. Hunt built a dam that

channelled water along a millrace between the two businesses, pulling water from the river

towards the mill to spin a waterwheel. The mill produced approximately 215 bushels of flour a

day, which was sold both at the Golden

Sheaf, Hunt’s store on Richmond Street,

and abroad. As the company expanded

over time, the property came to include a

cooperage, a granary, and cottages for the

mill’s workers. When Hunt passed in

1871, his sons took over the business and

renamed it Hunt Bros Ltd. The two moved

the business from its original location to a

new facility on Nightingale Street outside

of SoHo, in 1917.37

3.4.2 Small Businesses and Women's Work

The 1871 census of Canada recorded businesses, the number of employees, the supplies they

used, its products, capital invested into the business, and wages and profits. This census

included large well-known SoHo companies, like Labatt, and McClary Manufacturing on

37 GWH Bartram, “Charles Hunt, 1820–1871,” London and Middlesex Historical Society Transactions XVI (1967):
55-85; Freeman Talbot, London: its Manufactures and General Progress, Western Ontario History Nuggets 13
(1947): 7; James Sutherland ed., City of London and County of Middlesex General Directory for 1868–9 (Toronto,
1868), 277; Archie Bremner, ed., City of London, Ontario, Canada; the Pioneer Period and the London of Today,
2nd ed. (London, 1900), 68, 143.
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Adelaide near the river, but also small businesses. For example, William Dyson owned a tin and

coppersmith shop that produced only cheese vats. A man named Amos Weldon peddled pumps

in both the city and country. He owned one horse and a pine buggy, which he used to travel with

his wares. Even people who only took commission work appeared in the census as independent

businessmen and women. One example that stands out is Sara Wilson, a dressmaker. Wilson’s

business was very small, particularly compared to other dressmakers in the area. She had one

employee other than herself, another woman. Each woman's average monthly wage was $12.50,

and the business’s yearly profit was $300. $12.50 was not a large monthly wage. In comparison,

forty-two of the seventy-one recorded businesses in the same area paid over $20 a month.

Another woman who stands out is Fanny Seddon, who worked as a gilder, applying gold, silver,

and other high value metals to objects such as furniture or picture or mirror frames. In 1871,

Seddon was a fifty-year-old widow. Her eighteen-year-old son helped in her work, though he

was not an official employee. They turned a yearly profit of around $3200 in 1871.38

This census also shows that while the majority of workers in SoHo were men, women

and children also worked. Only specific businesses employed women; most were companies that

did sewing or hand-work, such as tailors, dress-makers, book-binders, or cobblers. These

industries closely align with what many considered ‘women’s work,’ or needed women’s smaller

hands. Many did not think these jobs took the same physical toll as heavy factory work.

However, there is also evidence of foundries, meat factories, cabinet manufacturers, and mills

employing women, although in much lower numbers compared to men. The employment of girls

was exceptionally limited, with only five girls being employed in SoHo in 1871–two of whom

worked at a ladies’ shop that only employed women. Potential jobs for boys were not as limited

as girls but happened less often. Most boys were employed by factories, as well as tailor shops

and cobblers.

38 This and the following data was obtained through the database created by the University of Guelph's Canadian
Industry in 1871 Project (1982-2008), http://www.canind71.uoguelph.ca/ (April 10, 2022); Canada, Census of
Canada, 1871, Schedule 1, Ontario, London, Ward 3, page 18, https://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.item/?app=Census1871
&op=pdf&id=4396677_00392 (April 10, 2022); Canada, Census of Canada, 1871, Schedule 1, Ontario, London,
Ward 3, North Division, page 28, https://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.item/?app=Census1871&op= pdf&id=4396677
_00480 (April 10, 2022).
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3.4.3 Labatt Brewing Co.

In 1834, John Kinder Labatt and his wife Eliza Kell moved to British North America to live free

of discrimination against the Irish they faced back home in England. Labatt claimed 200 acres of

land and for the next decade, tended to the fields of his farm. By 1847, Labatt had entered into a

partnership with Samuel Eccles who had recently bought the London Brewery on Simcoe

Street.39 As Labatt became the leading business partner, the public began to associate the London

Brewery with the Labatt name. The forest city proved to be an ideal location to launch his beer

empire as Labatt took advantage of the surrounding wilderness for building materials, firewood,

and the help of local farmers for malting barley.40

A key factor in Labatt's success was his ability to recognize the benefits of transportation

to the sale of beer. The arrival of the Great Western Railway in 1853 allowed Labatt to ship his

products to Canada's bigger cities.41 Labatt later invested in the manufacturing of branded

transport trucks. The trucks not only provided a unique advertising strategy, but allowed Labatt

to sell his beer to populations not accessible by train. The Labatt-owned truck fleet meant that

41 Bellamy, “Labatt,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/
closer-look/the-birth-of-a-brewery (February 23, 2023).   

40 Fred Israels, ed., Londoners Remember Part Two: A Collection of Reminiscences (London: Ad Ventures in History
Inc., 1989), 87.

39 Matthew J. Bellamy, “Labatt: A Closer Look,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017),
https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/closer-look/the-birth-of-a-brewery (February 23, 2023).   
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the company did not have to outsource their transportation needs. This proved to be crucial

during the prohibition movement in the early 1900s. Having the ability to produce and transport

its own product allowed Labatt to become one of the most successful bootlegging operations in

all of Canada.42

Trucks were not the only way Labatt was remembered in SoHo. Music played an

interesting role both in advertising and employee morale. In the 1940s, employees compiled a

songbook as part of a morale boosting initiative. This book includes popular folk songs edited to

include Labatt lore such as the song Beer Stories:

The earth was made in six days and finished
on the seventh,

According to the contract it should have
been the ‘leventh.

The carpenters got drunk and the Masons
wouldn’t work,

So the cheapest thing to do was to fill it
up with dirt.

While Labatt was first and foremost a beer company, to residents of SoHo it was so much

more. One Londoner said that “Labatt's were very good to their employees. In the old days it

seemed like Labatt's was a family. Everybody knew everybody. You could go up to Mr. Labatt

and say hello.”43 It not only employed many SoHo residents, but created communities outside of

work to connect people on a personal level. Ron Edwards remembered the kindness of Labatt

when his father was an employee: “When my father took sick, the generosity of the people was

amazing.” He described one winter in which Labatt made his family feel truly appreciated:

“Soon another knock came and it was the head of the union at Labatt's where my dad worked. He

had a big hamper of food and toys for us kids. That was one of the nicest Christmas' we've ever

had.”44

44 Israels, ed., Londoners Remember, 17.

43 Fred Israels, ed., Londoners Remember: A Collection of Reminiscences (London: Ad Ventures in History Inc.,
1989), 17.

42 Bellamy, “Labatt,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/
closer-look/the-challenge-of-prohibition (February 23, 2023).
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Labatt paid special attention to its employees' children, giving them opportunities for

leisure and fun, education, and professional development. One program in particular, Smile

Across Canada, was a summer exchange program to sponsor children of employees to live with

a host family in another province.45

In the summer, Labatt employed many students, especially children of employees. One of

those lucky students was Tanya Weigelt who spoke of her summers with a sense of nostalgia:

“getting a summer job with Labatt was like winning the lottery!”46 As a young woman, Weigelt

worked in different roles. She remembered the satisfaction of the rhythmic machinery sounds on

the assembly line, and the fun she had as a forklift driver. For her, a summer job with Labatt was

so much more than work. She remembered socialising with her colleagues at the after-shift bars

around the brewery, as well as employee camping trips to Sauble Beach. She said that her time at

Labatt was particularly unique as her

father, Karl Weigelt, worked as a

long-time mechanical engineer. His

career with Labatt started a month

after Weigelt was born in 1969 and

he stayed until 2008. Growing up as

a child of a Labatt employee was

special, and Weigelt described her

father's colleagues as a second

family. She remembered the warmth

and the fun at work events, such as

Christmas parties for families.

Weigelt worked for the company for

four summers, enjoying every

minute of it.

46 Tanya Weigelt, Interview with Jessica Hugh, February 7, 2023.

45 Bellamy, “Labatt,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/
closer-look/a-team-the-people-of-labatt (February 23, 2023).

SoHo STORY | 25

Labatt’s Mobile Disaster Service rescue fom a demolished building.
A08-053-197, 57, Envelope 1,  Labatt Brewing Company Collection.
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Labatt’s also cared for the community as a whole. During the flood of 1948, Labatt

employees helped with sandbagging, pumping, and rescue operations. Shortly after the flood, the

company created the Labatt Mobile Disaster Service to help with future accidents and natural

catastrophes such as fires and floods.47

While the company often improved the work lives of their employees, the impact of the

Labatt workers' union should not be ignored. The Labatt marching band, the Clown Syncopaters

Local No. 1, was a union band which often performed at company events and parades. Post

Second World War, clowns were a common sight in Labour Day parades. Older union members

felt that Labour Day parades were becoming too commercialised, and pandered to audiences'

demand for entertainment instead of promoting worker solidarity.48 A band made up of proud

union workers adorned in flashy clown costumes worked as a compromise. They were

extravagant enough to hold the attention of their audience while also demonstrating the benefits

that came with union membership.

During the Second World War, the Labatt factory contributed to the Canadian war effort.

48 Craig Heron and Steve Penfold, The Workers' Festival: A History of Labour Day in Canada (Toronto: University
of Toronto Press, 2005), 227.

47 Bellamy, “Labatt,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/
chapter/commitment-to-canadian-communities/the-spirit-of-1000-pounds (February 23, 2023).
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Labatt Clown Band marching in a labour day parade. A08-053-1211 
LAGR0015, Folder 2 Labatt Brewing Company Collection.

Courtesy of ASCWU.



The company is most well known for shipping thousands of gallons of beer overseas to
Canadians on the front lines and creating print and radio advertisements with patriotic messages
to support troops and encourage Canadians to raise money for the war effort. Much like other
companies across Canada, the factory refitted to produce ammunition and supplies for the
Canadian army. Its largest contribution to the
war occurred in 1941 with the establishment of
the Motor Mechanics Army Trade school,
often referred to as “Labatt’s Army Trade
School.” This initiative transformed the
company garages into training facilities for
soldiers to learn mechanical skills.49

As war continued in Europe,
conscription left Labatt severely understaffed.
In 1943, women started to work at the brewery
for the first time and some even stood in for

family members serving overseas.

Before the war, women only worked

as office staff for Labatt.50

Toward the end of the war in

1945, workers at Labatt prepared

care packages for Canadians

overseas. Labatt employees

eventually returned to their jobs at

the brewery when they arrived

home.

50 “The Women in Our Life,” Spearhead, June 1943, timeline, Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit
(2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/chapter/supporting-canadas-troops/the-world-goes-to-war-again/874/859
(March 5, 2023).

49 Bellamy, “Labatt,” Labatt Brewing Company Collection, virtual exhibit (2017), https://labattheritage.lib.uwo.ca/
closer-look/supporting-canadas-troops (March 5, 2023).
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Courtesy of ASCWU.

Labatt factory women working on War
Savings Certificates. Box A08-053-1197,

Labatt Brewing Company Collection.
Courtesy of ASCWU.



3.4.4 Holeproof Hosiery and London Hosiery Mills

By the 1920s, societal changes resulted in the growth of the hosiery industry. It flourished

because of an improved standard of living which rejected the idea of mending one’s stockings as

well as a changing fashion that showed one’s legs and ankles.51 Holeproof Hosiery was one large

hosiery manufacturer in SoHo which for many decades helped meet this increasing demand for

delicate socks and stockings. Carl Freschl, a young man who immigrated from Europe to the

United States in 1872, founded Holeproof in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, in 1886.52 He coined the

Holeproof guarantee: “six months without holes, or a new pair free.” The company came to

London in 1910 after JW Little bought the right to manufacture Holeproof products in Canada.53

While not its original location, the Holeproof branch in London eventually moved into SoHo, to

203 Bathurst Street, in 1919. Its first products were socks for men, women, and children. By

1927, the factory also made full fashioned hosiery for women, a style of hose meant to be worn

with a garter belt, as the hose only came to the top of the thigh. It also had reinforced heels and

toes, and its iconic seam down the back of the hose.

The employees who made the hosiery were primarily women. Margaret Ward, who

started working at Holeproof in 1962 at the age of nineteen, and Trudy Van Buskirk, who began

working in the factory office in 1965 at the age of fifteen, both described gendered work at

Holeproof. The repairmen and supervisors were men while the running of the machinery and the

office work was done by women.54 Ward admitted that “there was no guys that did any of our

jobs, they wouldn’t have lasted. Or they wouldn’t have done it.” Ward explained, in detail, the

machinery work that women did at Holeproof. She recalled working eight-hour night shifts at the

knitting machines during which she was responsible for making sure over thirty machines were

well stocked with thread, inspecting the hosiery for runs, and collecting the socks to be sent

54 Margaret Ward, Interview with Paige Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Trudy Van Buskirk,
Interview with Paige Milner, June 1, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.

53 Arthur McClelland, “A Run for the Money: Holeproof Hosiery Company, 1911-1989,” presentation, A Forgotten
Story of London series, London Public Library, October 11, 2011; Scott, “The Economic and Industrial History of
the City of London,” 261.

52 Better Hosiery: The Story of Holeproof (Milwaukee: Holeproof Hosiery Company, 1924), 6, https://content.
wisconsinhistory.org/digital/collection/tp/id/47138/ (July 4, 2022).

51 Frederick Arthur Wells, The British Hosiery and Knitwear Industry: Its History and Organisation (New York:
Barnes & Noble, 1972), 171; Benjamin S. Scott, “The Economic and Industrial History of the City of London,
Canada: From the Building of the First Railway, 1855 to the Present, 1930” (Masters thesis, University of Western
Ontario, 1930), 255-56.
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upstairs for dyeing and finishing. She described how “you were constantly on your feet, up and

down, up and down… it was just go, go, go.” These machines sat in rows in large rooms with

open windows which allowed for bats and birds to fly around while the women worked. To every

two women there was a repairman to fix the machines whenever something went wrong.55

In 1955, Holeproof Hosiery (both London and Milwaukee sites) merged with Julius

Kayser & Company which the CH Roth Company then purchased a few years later.56 The

hosiery department at the Bathurst factory stopped operations in 1971 but the fabric division

remained until the entire factory closed completely in 1989.

While Holeproof was the only hosiery factory technically within the bounds of SoHo, it

was one of six hosiery factories in London during the twentieth century. Residents of SoHo

likely also worked at London Hosiery Mills–a factory located just outside the area–north of the

train tracks at the Adelaide and York street intersection. The company was established in 1915 by

56 McClelland, “A Run for the Money.”
55 Ward, Interview with Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
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RL Baker and within the first fifteen years of business, he built two additions to the original

building to accommodate growth, and its workforce increased four times.57

Like Holeproof, London Hosiery Mills had a workforce made up of primarily women,

who were generally split between working the knitting machines, in the finishing room, and in

the sample room. Helen Stoddart, who started at the mill around 1951 at the age of seventeen and

stayed until 1958, was responsible for about twenty-one machines and spent ten-hour days

walking up and down the aisles, between the machines, keeping them running, inspecting the

finished socks, and even repairing the machines. She described how you needed a dozen pairs of

socks in a bundle and so, because the socks just poured out of the machine “you would tear it

[the sock] off, you’d put your hand in it, turn it inside out, throw it over your shoulder…. Until

you had twelve on your shoulder again… and then you’d tie them up.” The working environment

was dangerous due to the remarkable noise made from the machines as well as the slippery oil

that dripped from the machines, sometimes covering parts of the floor in puddles.58

When women like Stoddart were finished with the socks, they went up to the finishing

room where other women readied them for sale. Clarice Sargent worked in the finishing room

during her second stint at the factory from the age of twenty-two to twenty-nine, during

1960-67. Women paired, folded, packaged the socks and nylons, stamped the packaging, and

mailed them off to fulfil orders.59

In 1983, London Hosiery Mill was scheduled to relocate to Stratford, Ontario, and to

close shortly after this. Even years beforehand, as early as 1981, employees sensed the mill was

destined for closure. Many machines were broken, and there was a lack of operators to work

them and mechanics to fix these intricate machines.60 In 1987, the building was demolished and

the hosiery mill gone for good.

At both Holeproof and London Hosiery Mills, pay varied between jobs and gender. At

Holeproof, Van Buskirk started at thirty-five cents an hour but eventually after four years of

working for the company made approximately seventy-five cents an hour.61 Ward, on the other

61 Van Buskirk, Interview with Milner, June 1, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
60 Ted Collins, Interview with Paige Milner, July 22, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
59 Clarice Sargent, Interview with Paige Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
58 Helen Stoddart, Interview with Paige Milner, June 30, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
57 Scott, “The Economic and Industrial History of the City of London, Canada,” 263.
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hand, was paid both an hourly wage and by piece work. Altogether, she remembered making “a

lot less than $1.81 an hour.”62 At London Hosiery Mills, Stoddart started at around seventy-five

cents an hour but with piece work added, she recalled the most she ever made, near the end of

her time at the factory, was $1.05 an hour.63

There were two main reasons why these women came to work at both hosiery factories–

and neither was because of the pay. For some, it was the result of family connections. Many had

siblings or parents who already worked at the factory and got them an easy job when they needed

money.64 For others, it was the only job they could find.65

65 Ward, Interview with Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Mitchell, Interview with Milner, June
21, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.

64 Annecke Somann, Interview with Paige Milner, July 26, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Stoddart, Interview
with Milner, June 30, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Van Buskirk, Interview with Milner, June 1, 2022,
Heritage London Foundation.

63 Stoddart, Interview with Milner, June 30, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
62 Ward, Interview with Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
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Regardless, these women shared the reality that their pay cheques, no matter how small,

were incredibly important. Their work was undeniably necessary for either their survival, their

family’s survival, or their future. For most, their wage helped augment their husband’s wage; this

additional income allowed the family to get a mortgage on a new house, buy a car, pay for their

children’s daycare, or even purchase a new television.66 For the women who had yet to marry, it

financed their way through university or allowed them to move away from home and feed

themselves better than at home.67

These female factory workers shared two main feelings regarding their employment. The

first was the expression of intense work and exhaustion they experienced while working.

67 Van Buskirk, Interview with Milner, June 1, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Somann, Interview with Milner,
July 26, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.

66 Stoddart, Interview with Milner, June 30, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Ward, Interview with Milner, June
29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation; Mitchell, Interview with Milner, June 21, 2022, Heritage London
Foundation.
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Women at Holeproof Hosiery working a machine which steamed and pressed stockings into 
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Stoddart described how “I was afraid I was going to work myself to death sometimes.”68

However, this exhaustion was tempered with a general love for their job, their co-workers, and

their work. Van Buskirk, who was a university student near the end of her time at Holeproof,

recalled how her co-workers were all incredibly supportive of her schooling, considering that

they had never gone to university themselves. She reminisced how “they were all proud of me.”69

Billy Mitchell who described the experiences of his mother Ethel Maud Mitchell, who began

working at the mill around the age of sixteen in 1929, said that “she loved it. She thought that it

was the best place to be. Her whole life she thought that was great.”70 Similarly, Sargent said

enthusiastically, “And I loved it. I just loved it and that was the end of that.”71

The Second World War changed the labour force of many factories in SoHo. While

Holeproof primarily employed women since its opening, most of the other factories in SoHo did

not. Textile factories historically used women as their primary labour force, but breweries,

foundries, and other factories did not. The war necessitated adaptation. The Canadian

government encouraged women to enter the labour force so that factories could meet wartime

production needs. By 1943, war industries employed over 261,000 women. Many women left

work at the end of the war, but their efficacy as employees during wartime proved to many

employers that women could be valuable workers in a variety of industries. This did not

necessarily equate to large masses of women working in heavy industry after the war, but did

open doors for women who sought employment in those areas in later years.72

3.4.5 McClary Manufacturing/General Steel Wares

McClary Manufacturing (later General Steel Wares) began humbly in SoHo. Founder John

McClary embarked on his career as an apprentice tinsmith in London. Following his

participation in the California gold rush, McClary returned to London and together with his

brother, Oliver, established J&O McClary in 1850, specialising in the production of tinware.73

73 WA Craick, “Eighty-four Years Old, Still at Helm: How John McClary Found the Elixir of Perpetual Efficiency,”
MacLean’s Magazine, May 1, 1914, 23-24; Christopher Andreae, The Industrial Heritage of London and Area

72 Jean Bruce, Back the Attack! Canadian Women During the Second World War, At Home and Abroad (Toronto:
MacMillan Publishing Canada, 1985), 54-58.

71 Sargent, Interview with Milner, June 29, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
70 Billy Mitchell, Interview with Milner, June 21, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
69 Van Buskirk, Interview with Milner, June 1, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
68 Stoddart, Interview with Milner, June 30, 2022, Heritage London Foundation.
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The first firm was located in a house on the corner of Wellington and York streets. Demand for

tinware was not high enough for the company to grow, so the McClarys diversified in 1854 by

manufacturing stoves, for which they would become most known. Within a year, McClary

employed over forty men. At first, mostly pedlars sold the products, travelling by horse and

buggy through the rural regions surrounding London—as many as seventy-five pedlars were

employed by McClary at one time. The arrival of the railroad in London allowed for easier

transportation of products to multiple major cities as demand grew. In 1869, to raise capital for

expansion, McClary formed a joint stock

company and sold shares. By the

mid-1870s, the company had purchased

the Verity Company of Exeter and added

its products to the McClary line. McClary

was far from stopping—in 1877, the

company branched out into farming

equipment such as harrows and ploughs.

This was a short-lived diversification, as

a few years later it dropped farming

equipment in favour of producing more

stoves.

In 1881, the company officially

incorporated and was renamed McClary

Manufacturing Co. Ltd. Geographically,

the factory covered much of the block between Wellington, Clarence, York, and King streets.

Demand grew so high that by 1901, McClary had opened a warehouse in St John, New

Brunswick, and planned a nation-wide distribution system. Further branches were to open in

Vancouver, Calgary, Saskatoon, and Winnipeg. With the factory working hard to keep up,

McClary opened a large complex on both sides of Adelaide immediately north of the Thames, on

the south-eastern border of SoHo, in 1904.74

74 Mike Hand, Where Did They Go? (London, 2013), 23-24, 25, 29.
(London: Ontario Society for Industrial Archaeology and London Historical Museums, 1984), 21.

SoHo STORY | 34

General Steel Wares Block. AFC 177-S1-SS3-F3422, 1956, 
LFP Collection. Courtesy of ASCWU.



In 1927, McClary Manufacturing merged with several other companies to become

General Steel Wares. The Adelaide Street plant remained in operation into the 1980s and has

since been demolished.75

3.4.6 Canada Bread

Another major manufacturer in SoHo was the Canada Bread factory at 258 South Street. A

bakery business had been located on this spot as early as the 1880s, as shown on fire insurance

plans. Johnston Brothers Bakery of the early twentieth century gave way to Canada Bread by

mid-century. Jim Payne, a

former employee, worked

as a baker there for fifteen

years. His father and

grandfather had both been

bakers, and he followed in

their footsteps. For a

portion of his time at the

factory, he made dough.

The job was stressful,

requiring him to run

constantly between three

mixers to monitor the

dough. He also baked the

bread and recalled the

frenzy of loading and

unloading the oven. Payne

remembered workers unloading fresh loaves from the oven onto rolling racks. They then moved

these racks to another room for the bread to cool. Moving the rack sometimes resulted in loaves

falling off onto the floor. The bread was picked up by one of the men working, dusted off on

75 Craick, “Eighty-four Years Old,” MacLean’s Magazine, May 1, 1914, 23-24; Andreae, The Industrial Heritage of
London and Area, 21.
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their white pants, and placed back on the cooling rack. When he visited the factory twenty-three

years after he quit, Payne remembers being shocked by the changes. More men worked in both

the dough and baking areas, and he called the new employees ‘machine operators’ rather than

bakers. The mad scramble Payne remembered from his time working there was no more. Even

with technical innovations that increased production, the factory shut down in 2003. The site has

since been cleared.76

3.4.7 London Soap Company

The London Soap Company factory stood on the corner of Clarence and South streets for 100

years. It opened in 1875 under Thomas Churcher. In the early 1900s, Churcher sold the factory to

the Phillips family who operated the plant until 1978. In 1980, the city bought the factory as part

of its flood prevention programs, though it rented the space to tenants until 1984.77 In 1985,

many considered the building to be the oldest standing soap factory in Canada. However, it

caught fire April 13, 1985, destroying the building. A monument to the factory, a large toilet

soap milling machine salvaged from the fire, now marks the site. Included in the monument is a

plaque explaining the history and value of the old factory.78

Factories shaped people’s experiences in the neighbourhood. SoHo residents, whether

they worked in the local factories or not, knew and engaged with them in a variety of ways. They

dealt with debris from the factories during floods, saw trucks and trains, smelled and shopped for

bread and beer, and told time by the factory whistles heard during the day. Factories were part of

the neighbourhood, and thus part of the lived experience.79 Manufacturing never fully left SoHo,

but it has radically decreased in recent years.

79 Jane Moffat, Interview with Keely Shaw, April 1, 2022; Marion Hall, Interview with Madeline Shaw, March 15,
2022.

78 Chris Andreae, Hear, Here London, https://www.hearherelondon.org/stories/chris-andreae-london-soap-factory/
(April 5, 2022).

77 “London Soap Factory,” Alice Gibb Files, London, Ontario; Alice Gibb, “Soap Factory Destined to Become
Museum,” Alice Gibb Files; Andreae, The Industrial Heritage of London and Area, 21.

76 Jim Payne, Hear, Here London, https://www.hearherelondon.org/stories/jim-payne/ (April 5, 2022).
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The very first school in SoHo was Waterloo South Primary School, otherwise known as the old 

‘Ward School.’ Reverend Benjamin Cronyn, the superintendent of education for London, 

established the school in 1842. The school represents a key point in London's educational reform, 

constructed when the city was divided into wards with corresponding school districts. The city had 

tasked Cronyn with creating public school districts, and rather than draw up new boundaries he 

used the municipal ward boundaries and assigned corresponding school districts. The boundaries 

of SoHo fell into ward three, and the school opened at 186 Waterloo Street. The school zone was 

vast and encompassed many homes with school-aged children. Consequently,  overcrowding in 

classrooms was a problem familiar to both students and staff. One of the teachers, Phoebe 

Martindale, sometimes taught seventy students in one class. The city closed the school in 1890, 

and split students between two new public schools: Hamilton Road School (now Aberdeen Public 

School) and the Simcoe Street Model School. St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church Mission 

preserved the old ward school which can still be seen today, part of the Cornerstone United Reform 

Church. It is one of the oldest schools still standing in the city.



rather than Hamilton Road School. Their arrival on October 24, 1893, garnered much

celebration. The Free Press dedicated two and a half columns to their visit on the first day, and

another one and a half the next.82

In 1895, Aberdeen started a nighttime program aimed to educate girls who worked during

the day. The Ontario Factories’ Act of 1884 prohibited boys and girls under fourteen from

working in factories, and labour was limited to ten hours a day and sixty hours a week. This did

not necessarily stop girls from working long hours or in factories, as parents sought out forged

age certificates. In an attempt to keep children in school, the province also mandated that

children between the ages of seven to twenty-one attend a minimum of 100 days of school a

year, though some public-school inspectors made exceptions in the case of extreme poverty and

lowered the number of required days to fifty. These measures did little to curb the hours children

worked, as they did not restrict work for children in shops or in family businesses, nor did

inspectors regularly enforce the law.83

The Board of Education added another two rooms to Aberdeen in 1896 as the school

population grew, bringing the total number of classrooms to ten. Even still, the school needed

more classrooms, and the board approved the construction of a new sixteen-classroom building

in 1913. The new building opened in 1914 and had new manual and domestic training labs.

These labs hosted classes similar to modern trade and home economic classes. The Honourable

Justice Mayer Lerner attended Aberdeen between 1912-18 and remembered being one of the first

to learn in the new school: "I was in one of the first classes to enter the new school. Its design,

the most modern of the day, was common to several schools built at that time in London."84

Because Aberdeen was the only school in SoHo to have these facilities, students from the

Simcoe Street School travelled to Aberdeen to take their manual or domestic training classes.

Lerner remembered the playful tension between Aberdeen students and their visiting rivals from

Simcoe.

84 John A. Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines: A Historical Collectanea, in Celebration of the 100th
Anniversary of Aberdeen Public School (London, ON: 1983), 96.

83 Ontario, Ontario Factories' Act, 1884, s1, 146; Lorna F. Hurl, “Restricting Child Factory Labour in Late
Nineteenth Century Ontario,” Journal of Canadian Labour Studies 21, 2 (1988): 93-94.

82 “Welcomed to London, Lord and Lady Aberdeen Royally Entertained,” LFP, October 24, 1893, 2; “The Viceroyal
Drive,” LFP, October 25, 1893, 2.
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Other than more advanced classroom spaces, the new Aberdeen was also one of the first

schools to have a dentist office for students. Justice Lerner remembered his parents insisted he be

seen by Dr Fuller. While he may have resented his parents then, Lerner became lifelong friends

with Dr Fuller. Many years later, as Dr Fuller lay in his deathbed, he revealed to Justice Lerner

that he considered him as close as a son.85

At this time, the school also offered special classes for Russian and Jewish immigrant

students.86 Jewish immigrants from both western and eastern Europe have long been a part of the

history of SoHo, starting with the arrival of German Jews in the 1850s with subsequent waves of

immigration throughout the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. As such, it was important that

schools accommodated cultural-specific curriculum needs, such as language barriers and

religious holidays and services.87

Field trips were another element of school that students often remembered with fondness,

and alumni of Aberdeen were no different. One of the most common field trips was picnics at

Springbank Park. Edna Nicols was a student at Aberdeen between 1905-11 and remembered the

picnic as the silver lining in a cloudy sky of budget cuts and self-reliance that marked her youth:

“There were only 35,000 people in London when I went to school so it was possible to get all the

school children into the park at once. We met at the school with our lunch. The teachers made

lemonade. Then we boarded the street cars to Springbank.” This field trip became a longstanding

tradition. Ruth Irene White was a student at Aberdeen in the 1920s and remembered her first

time at the annual school picnic: "It was impressive to see all the city of London school children

gathered together in one place. And - there were races. And - there were prizes - money prizes.

What a day!”88

In 1949, Arthur Elder became principal at Aberdeen. All who knew Elder held him in

high regard. Being the son of a clergyman, Elder took an interest in the wellbeing of all those

around him. He was known for activity books he kept, meticulously recording the on-goings of

student life at Aberdeen, including lists of athletic and academic achievements from the early

88 Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines, 98, 97.
87 Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines, 96.

86 Alice Gibb, Aberdeen Public School, Soho Community Association, https://soholondon.ca/aberdeen-public-
school/ (November 3, 2009).

85 Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines, 96.
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1950s to the mid-1960s. These records highlight the perseverance of Aberdeen students to

succeed at a time when their peers were falling victim to measles, chicken pox, and the mumps.89

Music often has the power to evoke emotions and bring back memories, and such is true

for students who attended Aberdeen. Leighanne dePapp attended Aberdeen in the late 1960s and

remembered Miss Monger's folk dancing lessons, Mr Zielenski's violin lessons, and her friends

Della and Nancy's baton act. She also recalled playing her violin for her peers in the school's

auditorium. Sports were another way in which Aberdeen students demonstrated their talents.

Senior students, often the most invested in school rivalries, chanted at games against rival

schools:

Rotten potatoes, rotten potatoes,
Fifty cents a peck
Simcoe, Simcoe

Get them in the neck!90

While this rendition was clearly intended to intimidate students of Simcoe, students adjusted the

third line to fit the name of whatever school Aberdeen played that day.

3.5.3 Simcoe Street School

Simcoe Street School was built in 1887 and

demolished in 1976. It was located on the south

side of Simcoe Street, east of Clarence. The

school had two playgrounds–one for girls and one

for boys.91 Split playgrounds were common in

London schools. It is not clear when the two

merged, though interviewees who attended in the

1960s remember the split.92 But this did not stop

romantic interactions between students. Born in

1898, Simcoe alumni Ewart Mapletoft cherished

one Valentine’s Day more than others: “I

92 Hall, Interview with Shaw, March 15, 2022.

91 Carole Mason-Taylor, Hear, Here London, https://www.hearherelondon.org/stories/carol-mason-taylor-2/ (April 5,
2022).

90 Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines, 96, 97.
89 Maycock, Memories of Rods and Lines, 80.
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Grammar lesson at Governor Simcoe School,
1891. Courtesy of ASCWU.



remember one thing that I'm bragging about! I got a

valentine from every girl in grade eight at Simcoe School. I

got an awful roasting about that from the boys.”93

Bill Hodgman, a Simcoe student during the 1920s,

looked back on his time fondly. Hodgman remembered the

impact of the First World War on the student body, and how

faculty made efforts to support their community:

The principal was Mr Wallace … He got a project
going where we put up a memorial on the front lawn
of the school for the first war veterans. Many of the
kids had older brothers who had been in the war. He
brought in a piece of granite from the farm, had it
polished, and had all of the names of the veterans
put on it. It was mounted on a cement base. We had
a teacher named Mr Secord who had been in the
war.94

3.5.4 St John's French Immersion Catholic School

The neighbourhood also had a Roman Catholic school, St John’s French Immersion at 449 Hill

Street. Similar to surrounding schools, St John’s had a relatively even split between male and

female students.95 The teachers of St Johns were all nuns, and alumna Mary Pavia Melvin

remembered one in particular: “And the nuns are just, they were mean... No, I lied. They weren't

mean. We had one sister and it was sister and Louise, and she was the most precious nun you

could have ever.” The school fit well into the diverse neighbourhood of SoHo and St John's

student body was made up of Italian, Maltese, Irish, and Polish students.96

St John’s moved in 2017 and the building was demolished several years later. In 2022,

Nshwaasnangong Child Care and Family Centre, an Indigenous-led day care centre was

constructed at this location.

3.5.5 Language Schools

The other type of schools in SoHo taught languages. In 1927, Polish immigrant Stanislaw

96 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, February 19, 2023.

95 Dave Moczulski, Hear, Here London, https://www.hearherelondon.org/stories/dave-moczulski-2/ (April 5, 2022).
94 Israels, ed., Londoners Remembers, 28.
93 Israels, ed., Londoners Remembers Part Two, 39.
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now at 241 Simcoe Street.
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practised the traditional, Orthodox style of Judaism and B’nai Moses ben Judah Synagogue,

which practised the more reformed, conservative style of Judaism. For this reason, parents

preferred to keep Jewish education at their respective synagogues. The building on Hill Street

instead served SoHo’s Jewish population into the 1960s as an education centre and gathering

place for the community.103

In 1966, the Jewish community established a new language school called the Hebrew

Day School located downtown on Waterloo Street.104 This school was affiliated with the newly

established Or Shalom Synagogue which finally amalgamated the congregations of the B’nai

Israel and B’nai Moses Ben Judah synagogues. Once more members of the Jewish community

left SoHo for North London, the Hebrew Day School relocated in 1979 to a new building on

Epworth Avenue.105 The school on Hill Street became an apartment building as it is today.

105 “Leading Jewish Citizen leaves London,” London Jewish Community News, September 18, 1985, Ronnee Alter
Fonds, 2017-6-9, OJA.

104 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London, 176.

103 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, 2011-6-3, OJA; Eqbal, “London
Neighbourhood Histories”; Bill Gladstone, A History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario: From the 1850s
to the Present Day (Toronto: Now and Then Books, 2011), 107.
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4.4 Chinese Community

For Chinese immigrants to Ontario in the late nineteenth century, life was extremely challenging.

They were predominantly male due to the nature of immigration policies, meaning that the

growth of the community was delayed significantly.288 Between 1885-1949 approximately 100

individuals arrived in London, most of whom faced a $500 head tax. Their occupations consisted

of laundrymen, labourers, merchants, and students.289 In 1901, according to census data, there

were only twenty-seven Chinese people in the city. Of these individuals approximately eleven

lived in SoHo. All were young men working in hand laundry, many at the same businesses. By

1911, there were seventy-one Chinese people with similar demographics, mainly men working in

laundries. The population experienced growth between 1911-21. The population increased to

over 334 Chinese individuals in London, with 148 of them living in and around SoHo.290

Laundryman as an occupation was common among Chinese immigrants in Canada.

Considerable employment discrimination limited opportunities, so many opened hand laundries

and other businesses like small stores. Laundry owners charged low rates to wash and iron

clothes. Employees had to accept wages that were less than the bottom 20% of annual wages in

Ontario in 1901.291 The work was also physically demanding in hot and steamy conditions, with

owners washing, ironing, and packaging clothes, chopping wood for the water boilers, and

dropping off deliveries on a daily basis.292 Chinese laundries in Ontario towns reported eighteen

hour days, and some lived in their business to cut costs.293 An example of this is the laundry at

293 Chen, “Chinese Minority and Everyday Racism,” 77.

292 Ban Seng Hoe, “Enduring Hardship - Chinese Hand Laundry,” Canada Hall - Virtual Exhibit, Canadian Museum
of History, 2000, https://www.historymuseum.ca/cmc/exhibitions/hist/phase2/mod5e.html (April 9, 2023).

291 Chen, “Chinese Minority and Everyday Racism,” 76.

290 Data obtained through the census databases by Library and Archives Canada for 1901, 1911, and 1921 by
searching the keyword “Chinese” in Wards 1 and 3. These wards contain SoHo residents, but also encompassed the
surrounding areas. See https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/Home/Search?DataSource=Genealogy
%7CCensus&ApplicationCode=28~4~137&EthnicOrigin=Chinese&ProvinceCode=ON&Place=London&SubDistri
ctName=Ward%201~Ward%203& (March 15, 2023).

289 Immigrants from China 1885-1949, https://library-archives.canada.ca/eng/collection/research-help/genealogy-
family-history/immigration/pages/immigrants-from-china-1885-1949.aspx#a3 (April 9, 2023).

288 Zhongping Chen, “Chinese Minority and Everyday Racism in Canadian Towns and Small Cities: An Ethnic Case
Study of Peterborough,” Canadian Ethnic Studies 26, 1 (2004): 76, 74.
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531 South Street.294 Lee Jung, who immigrated in 1899 as a young man in his twenties, lived

here in 1921, an address marked as a Chinese hand laundry on fire insurance plans.295

Other Chinese SoHo residents included Yung Lung who lived at 206 Wellington and

worked as a laundry man. In 1901, he was twenty-five years old and rented this small four-room

building which served as both his business and home.296 Other laundry men in the 1920s

included two single men, Willie and George Lee, who lived at 247 Clarence, and at 82

Wellington, Charlie Frank and lodger Frank Lee.297 Immigration halted in the years that followed

due to the Chinese Exclusion Act of 1923.

297 Canada, Census of Canada, 1921, http://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.redirect?app=census&id=64492326&lang=eng and
http://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.redirect?app=census&id=64540953&lang=eng (March 18, 2023).

296 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1907-1908 (Hamilton:
Henry Vernon & Son, 1908), 121; Fire Insurance Plan, London, Ontario, Sheet 28, ASCWU; Canada, Census of
Canada, 1901, https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=census&IdNumber=
36145268 (March 16, 2023); Ontario, Assessment Roll for the Third Ward, 1896, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/
61903/3:1:3QHV0 -F3CV-J9XR-8?cc=4130007&personaUrl=%2Fark%3A%2F61903%2F1%3A1%3A66CX-SX1F
(March 17, 2023).

295 Canada, Census of Canada, 1861, http://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.redirect?app=census&id=64541558&lang=eng
(March 23, 2023); Fire Insurance Plan, London, Ontario, 1912 (Montreal, rev. 1915), Sheet 37, ASCWU.

294 Fire Insurance Plan, London, Ontario, 1912 (Montreal, rev. 1922), Sheet 37, ASCWU.
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4.5 Irish Community

There were two large influxes of immigrants to London from Ireland. Sponsored by government
organisations, the first came after the Napoleonic Wars in 1803-1805. Experiencing economic
hardship, many looked elsewhere for opportunities.298 One of these men was Richard Talbot, a
soldier turned immigration agent. In 1818, Talbot and other Anglicans from Tipperary County,
Ireland, settled at the forks of the Thames in the newly surveyed London Township. Subsequent
Irish immigrants settled in SoHo and the township, forming social and religious enclaves.299

The second large influx of immigrants, totalling over 1,500, were poorer and more likely
to be Roman Catholic. They came during and after the great potato famine of 1842-52, and this
sparked a degree of controversy for the settled immigrant population of London. Many arrived
sick with cholera. Much to the disgust of locals, the Irish were housed in immigration sheds at
the block between Wellington, Waterloo, York, and Bathurst, just on SoHo’s northmost border.300

This first shed measured roughly forty feet in dimension and housed the healthy Irish—it was
crowded with people and their belongings. The sickly Irish were sent immediately to a hastily
built hospital shed, measuring about the same as the one for the healthy. The sick, dying, and
dead rested on pallets on the dirt floor, or even directly on the floor when staff ran out of pallets.
A final shed was constructed for cooking and washing. This was organised by London’s Board
of Police, which also rented houses surrounding the block for the doctor, medical dispenser, and
nurses. The president of the Board of Police and the chairman of the Board of Health, Dr Hiram
Davis Lee, was appointed as the on-site physician. Locals volunteered their services as nurses
and others housed the Irish in their homes as they recuperated.301

In 1847, cholera conditions worsened amongst the Irish and all five of London’s
physicians began working side-by-side at the hospital shed, including Dr Henry Going and Dr
Thomas Philips, who were Irish themselves. Cholera killed two volunteer nurses in August and
September and then Dr Lee himself in October. Dr Going succeeded him as head physician and
conditions slowly improved by November. The number of total Irish who died in the sheds is
unknown, but the corpses were anonymously hauled away on farm carts to be buried

301 Willard Francis Dillon, “The Irish in London, Ontario, 1826-1861,” (MA thesis, Western University, 1963), 36.
300 Seaborn, March of Medicine, 116.

299 Daniel James Brock, “Richard Talbot, the Tipperary Irish and the Formative Years of London Township: 1818-
1826,” (MA Thesis, Western University, 1969), 3, 82, 84.

298 Elliott, Irish Migrants in the Canadas, 116.
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unceremoniously in a gravel pit outside city limits.302 In 1849, town council moved to remove
the hospital since it no longer provided a purpose and that it was in the way of the local
inhabitants and farmers. Later that month, fire destroyed the hospital shed, which authorities
suspected to be arson fuelled by fear of the disease spreading outside of the shed.303 Those who
survived the emigrant sheds often took on domestic service or prostitution, and some ended up
on pauper rolls or in prison.304

By 1861, a significant portion of the working class in London consisted of the Irish.305 In
1862, Edward Winder, a house painter, and his family settled in SoHo. Winder and his brother
built a store and home in 1872, now 129 Wellington Street at the corner of Hill. This is one of
the first buildings designed to have a shop and living quarters on the bottom floor, and extended
living quarters on the second. The Back from the Brink project restored the property, known
locally as the ‘Red Antiquities Building,’ in 2011 and it remains a landmark in the
neighbourhood.306

As of 1881, Irishman John Winnett lived at 411 Grey Street in SoHo.307 He was a
Methodist born in Ireland who immigrated to Canada in 1848. The census listed him as a lumber
merchant and married to Susanna Gordon, also born in Ireland.308 They had twelve children. Her
tenth child, William H. Winnett lived at 406 Grey Street and continued the family tradition of
working in lumber and coal.309 When William Winnett’s finances increased, he moved to a larger
house on King Street and rented 406 Grey to various tenants with a range of occupations from a
milkman to stained glass worker. Willam Winnett was elected to London city council as an
alderman.310 His son, Albert Winnett, spent his childhood years at 406 Grey, before training as a

310 “Ex-Alderman Dies” LFP, June 18, 1928, 1.
309 History of the County of Middlesex Canada (Toronto: Goodspeed, 1889), 1051.

308 Canada, Census of Canada, 1871, https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/Home/Search? Data
Source=Genealogy%7CCensus&ApplicationCode=2~29&FirstName=john&LastName=winnett&ProvinceCode=O
N&Place=london& (October 30, 2023).

307 White’s City of London and County of Middlesex Directory (London, 1881), 8.

306 London Heritage Council, The Red Antiquities Building, March 28, 2011 https://heritagecouncilblog.word
press.com/2011/03/28/the-red-antiquities-building/ (May 4, 2022); Alice Gibb, The Antiquities Shoppe Soho
Landmark Threatened with Demolition, Soho Community Association, December 3, 2010, https://soholondon.
ca/the-antiquities-shoppe-soho-landmark-threatened-with-demolition/ (May 4, 2022); Eqbal, “London
Neighbourhood Histories.”

305 Dillon, “The Irish in London, Ontario, 1826-1861,” 107-11.
304 Orlo Miller, The Donnellys Must Die (Toronto: Macmillan of Canada, 1962), 36.
303 Seaborn, March of Medicine, 117.
302 Dillon, “The Irish in London, Ontario, 1826-1861,” 37.
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dentist and joining the Canadian Army Dental Corps during the First World War.311 The Winnett
family continued to own and rent houses in SoHo, accumulating property as a method to
generate wealth, a strategy common to other immigrant groups.

311 Lieutenant-Colonel Albert William Winnett, Canadian Great War Project, https://canadiangreatwarproject.com/
person.php?pid=119185 (November 26, 2022).
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refused passage. Upon arriving in London, he began working for Guy Lombardo’s father as a

tailor in his shop, which once stood where City Hall is now located.326 Presumably around this

time, he met his wife, Antoinette Baratta, and married in 1918.327

As the Second World War broke out,

Antonucci was arrested as an enemy alien in June

1940, likely in relation to a failure to pay a chattel

mortgage in a timely fashion.328 Price, Waterhouse, &

Co. (PwC) stated that Ralph had taken out mortgages

on appliances needed for his dry cleaning business,

totalling $500, but only had a bank balance of

$28.98. The firm determined that the sale of the

machinery would not equal the amount of the

mortgage and thus his circumstances would not be of

interest to the Custodian of Enemy Property, which managed trade with enemy aliens, sometimes

including the seizure and liquidation of enemy property. Still, he was interned at Camp

Petawawa from the day of his arrest until his release on December 23, 1940. One of the largest

and most notorious of these camps was Camp Petawawa, also known as Camp 33. The Canadian

Forces Base in Petawawa, Ontario established it shortly after Italy entered the war in 1940. The

camp initially held German prisoners of war, but was later converted into an internment camp for

Italian enemy aliens. It was the site of most Italian interments in Canada, interning over 400

Italians.329 The internment of Italian-Canadians during the Second World War profoundly

impacted the community. Imprisonment tore apart many families. After being released from the

camps these men often found themselves stigmatised and discriminated against, and many

struggled to rebuild their lives. At the time of his internment, Ralph’s wife, Antoinette, acted as

the sole owner and operator of their business, Talbot Dry Cleaners & Dyers.330 While not a

330 “Internee List,” Italian Canadians as Enemy Aliens, http://www.italiancanadianww2.ca/tour/internees# (February
22, 2023).

329 Enrico Cumbo, “Sports and Inter-Ethnic Relations at Camp Petawawa,” Polyphony 7, 1 (1985): 31.

328 “Antonucci, Raffaele - Internee [property of],” File 4370, Volume 1995, RG117-A-3, Library and Archives
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

327 Ontario, Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1928, Reel 458, Archives of Ontario, Toronto, Ontario.
326 “Londoner Sends Photographs to Indian Premier Mrs. Gandhi,” LFP, April 2, 1966, 15.
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resident of SoHo, Antonucci did work there later on at Personal Dry Cleaners on the corner of

Richmond and Horton, which was owned by his son.331

The other known Italian who was interned was Sebastiano Federico.332 Federico was born

in Italy in 1892. Upon immigrating to Canada, he worked as a tailor for Scotts of London and

lived on Queens Avenue with his wife, Helen.333 Like Antonucci, the RCMP arrested him in June

1940, but released him sooner, in November 1940.334

Into the 1960s, the treatment of Italians had not improved exponentially in London. Many

felt they had to start their own businesses to avoid discrimination and neglect as employees of

larger companies. This was the experience of Sil Palumbo. Upon arriving in London, he found

work through the Union Hall, but, like all Italian workers there, found his name continually

pushed to the bottom of the joblist, since English workers were prioritised. With financial help

from other Italian immigrants, he purchased a house on Simcoe Street; he and his family lived on

the main floor and rented out the upstairs until he could afford to turn the house back into a

single family home. Like Palumbo, many of the Italians in SoHo were born in the small southern

Italian town of San Bartolomeo in Galdo. The Italian migrants from this town have their own

social club in London and meet yearly to golf at West Haven Golf Club.335

Despite the hostility towards Italians during the war, afterwards Canada received a mass

influx of Italian immigrants. London’s Italian population surged, and new Italian businesses and

clubs formed. The Marconi Club’s membership grew significantly during this period, and though

it is not in SoHo, Italians from SoHo attended their meetings and events. In 1964, the club

moved from its site on Carling Street to a larger facility on Clarke Road.336

The London Italian community is an outlier. The settlement pattern is different from other

cities. Rather than have their own enclave, Italians integrated into London’s neighbourhoods.

They lived on a variety of streets alongside other immigrants and workers, and their shops were

336 Marconi Club of London, About Us, http://londonmarconiclub.com/about-us/ (April 5, 2022).
335 Sil Palumbo, Interview with Michelle Hamilton and Niġel Klemenčič-Puglisevich, December 13, 2022, ASCWU.

334 Internee List, Italian Canadians as Enemy Aliens, http://www.italiancanadianww2.ca/tour/internees# (February
22, 2023).

333 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1956 (Hamilton: Henry
Vernon & Son, 1956), 231.

332 Internee List, Italian Canadians as Enemy Aliens, http://www.italiancanadianww2.ca/tour/internees# (February
22, 2023).

331 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1965 (Hamilton: Henry
Vernon & Son, 1965), 91.
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not clustered together. This is very different from other cities, such as Toronto or Montreal,

where there are clear Little Italy communities.337

Yet the Italian community both historically and today has its own

network of shops, bakeries, and clubs. A popular Italian bakery, Stranos, is

located at 87 William Street. Founded in 1934, the Bernardo family

operated Bernardo Marble Terrazzo and Tile on Dundas, and another

location in SoHo at Maitland and Hamilton. The company at one time

employed approximately fifty Londoners. The president and founder, Mike

Bernardo, was also the former manager of the Italian Mosaic and Marble

Co.’s London office on Maitland.338 Now closed, Murray’s Variety, on

Wellington between Horton and Simcoe, served as both a store and a

meeting place for the Italian community. Murray’s seems to have passed

through the hands of multiple owners. One owner, George Bertoia, helped

people in SoHo connect with Italians who wanted to immigrate. Bertoia’s

wife, Katherine Bertoia, took over ownership after her husband.339 As one

of our interviewees noted, “Murray’s Variety is key, because it was kind of

like the immigrant train, the immigrant connection for the Italian

community.” Murray’s also acted as a place to start job hunts or make living arrangements.340

While the Italian community did not have its own church in SoHo, many attended St. Mary’s on

Lyle Street. Community could even be found in workplaces. One person interviewed noted the

large community of Italian men working in Victoria Hospital’s laundry whilst they learned

English, and another noted a group of Italians who worked at Labatt Brewing Co.341 Another

made note of a community working at Canada Bread.342

Canada Bread is where one of SoHo’s most popular Italians got his start in London.

Vincent Bondi immigrated to Canada with his mother aboard the Vulcania in 1952 to join his

342 Akins, Bondi, Bondi, and Edwards, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich, March 22, 2023.
341 Nancy and Jeff Jamieson, Interview with Keely Shaw, March 24, 2022.
340 Mario Circelli, Interview with Emily Clink and Danielle Sinopoli, December 2, 2021.

339 Concetta Akins, Maria Bondi, Tony Bondi, and Matilda Edwards, Interview with Niġel Klemenčič-Puglisevich,
March 22, 2023.

338 “Art of Marble and Terrazzo Work Mastered by Bernardo Craftsmen,” LFP, August 22, 1961.
337 John Zucchi, A History of Ethnic Enclaves in Canada (Ottawa: Canadian Historical Association, 2007), 4-5.
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father, who had immigrated two years earlier. His wife followed nine months later. Bondi’s

mother was a baker in Sicily and upon arriving in London, she began selling pizzas from the

family’s home on the intersection of Horton and Waterloo Streets. The first pizza the Bondis sold

was made without cheese—that first customer requested that the next pizza be made with cheese.

Vincent Bondi always had a business-oriented mind and soon developed a business delivering

these pizzas. As the business grew, his four other siblings helped when they could between full

working days, even as the business grew into a full-fledged restaurant under his parents’ home.

His children recalled early memories of the restaurant when it would be so full that they would

have to seat customers upstairs in Bondi’s parents’ dining room. All of the Bondi children

worked at the restaurant, even managing hat and coat check as children—and making good tips,

too.

Bondi’s Italian Restaurant and Jazz Club became a hugely popular and influential

business in London. Bondi’s became the first restaurant in London to obtain a liquor licence,

increasing its popularity significantly. Bondi also employed new Italian immigrants to help them

get started in Canada.343 Bondi’s is a testament to the driven and close-knit nature of the Italian

community in SoHo.

343 Akins, Bondi, Bondi, and Edwards, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich, March 22, 2023.

SoHo STORY | 99



4.7 Jewish Community

The history of the Jewish community in SoHo dates back to the 1850s when German Jews first

immigrated to London. Fleeing persecution and economic hardships, they sought a better life

with more opportunities. These immigrants were a group of businessmen and families, many of

whom became store owners and prominent figures in their new community. During the 1880s

and 1890s, there was a sudden large influx of Russian-Jewish families fleeing state-organised

massacres, or pogroms.344 During this period, the population of Jewish individuals within Canada

increased from 2400 to 6000 as over 600,000 Jews escaped the violence in Russia and fled to

North America.345 Canadian census data reflects that approximately 100 of these Russian-Jews

settled in London; the Jewish population rose from around fifty individuals in 1881 to 144 in

1891.346 Many of these immigrants and refugees were Orthodox and began to outnumber the

Reformed German Jewish community in SoHo.347

London’s Jewish community continued to expand into the early 1900s as Jewish people

in Russia and eastern Europe continued to face persecution and violence which forced them to

emigrate to Canada. In 1901, London’s Jewish population consisted of 206 individuals and

increased significantly to 570 in 1911.348 A large percentage of Jewish immigrants who arrived in

this period were extremely poor because they were forced to leave their home countries. These

Jews settled close to each other in SoHo near the river on Clarence, South, Maitland and Grey

streets. Many worked in cigar factories, or as junk-peddlers when they first arrived in London,

since such employment did not require them to speak any English. These industries quickly

became dominated by Jewish immigrants in SoHo.349

In the late nineteenth century, a successful cigar industry centred in London. Named after

themselves, the German Jewish Brener brothers opened a hand-rolling cigar factory in the 1880s,

349 Alice Gibb, “SoHo Community History Project,” Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

348 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, The Jewish Community of London,
Ontario: A Self Survey (Toronto, April 1959), Alan Maurice Cohen Fonds, 2016-12-67, OJA.

347 Bill Gladstone and Rubinoff family, A History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario: from the 1850s to the
Present Day (Toronto: Now & Then Books, 2011), 23.

346 Rosa Orlandini, “Scrap, Salvage, and Sell,” (2021), https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/ b0cabc80844649779d
14e9866e9a8c27 (May 3, 2022); Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

345 Dr Isidore Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory: The Jews of London, Ontario The First
One Hundred Years, Bill Gladstone Fonds, 2011-6-3, Ontario Jewish Archives, Toronto, Ontario (hereafter OJA).

344 Eqbal, “London Neighbourhood Histories.”
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later housed at 184-190 Horton Street. The company hired many Jewish immigrants, and grew its

workforce from thirty to 200 by 1912. In the same year, it produced over ten million cigars. With

the introduction of cheap cigarettes and automation of the industry during the First World War,

cigar consumption declined and Brener Brothers closed in 1922. During the 1980s, the factory

building itself was demolished.350

The Leff family immigrated during the 1890s Russian-Jewish influx. Moses Leff, the

patriarch, was known for his participation in the community, including negotiating with

Reverend William Proudfoot for the purchase of land on Oxford Street for the Or Shalom

Cemetery. This was a significant victory for the Jewish community as the land originally

belonged to the Presbyterian church which did not normally do business with the Jewish

community.351 In addition to these negotiations, Moses Leff co-founded the B’nai Moses Ben

Judah Synagogue on the corner of Horton

and Colborne in 1906.

Moses Leff’s son William started a

scrap collecting business, William Leff and

Company, in 1898. Starting a business was

a common strategy for immigrants because

of prejudice against them in hiring

practices. At the time, many Jewish

individuals owned and worked in the scrap

trading business. Considered to be

“noxious” and “unhealthy,” a 1903 city

by-law forbid the operation of rag, bone

and junk businesses in downtown and parts

of SoHo, a move also aimed to limit

Jewish-owned efforts.352

352 City of London, By-law 2338, To Define the Areas within which Rag, Bone or Junk Shops, or other Industries of
a Noxious or Unhealthy Character, may not be Carried on within the City of London (1903).

351 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London, 21.

350 “The Brener Brothers Cigar Factory,” London Public Library, https://www.lpl.ca/books-digital/explore/london-
room/local-history/local-historic-sites/brener-brothers-cigar-factory (May 4, 2022); Gladstone, History of the Jewish
Community of London, 24.
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Leff started his operation in his house at the corner of William and Bathurst streets.

Employing largely other Jewish immigrants, Leff and Company became one of the largest scrap

yards in London by the 1930s.353 In addition to cigar-making and scrap collecting, Jewish

immigrants worked as tailors, shop owners, merchants, and lawyers.

In the SoHo neighbourhood, there were several meat markets and grocery stores run by

Jewish families in the early 1900s. One of the longest running kosher butcheries was the

Lapowich Meat Market located at 299 South Street, founded by Zalmon Lapowich in 1910.354

Lapowich’s was a popular spot for all members of the SoHo neighbourhood as it also sold

non-kosher meats. The business passed to Zalmon’s son Samuel when he passed away in 1960.

Samuel Lapowich commented in a London Free Press article in 1971 that the family business

had allowed him to put his two sons through university and become successful lawyers.355

Unfortunately, the meat market closed that same year when large, big-box stores replaced

smaller, family-run grocery stores.

Three generations of the Silverstein family ran a successful fish market downtown from

the early 1920s to late 1980s. Louis Silverstein was a Russian-Jew who came to SoHo in 1905

with his wife Ida, and lived at 96 Clarence Street. Like many other Russian-Jewish immigrants in

SoHo, Louis did not know any English and needed a way to support himself and his wife. He

started by acquiring a push cart and peddling fish door-to-door, eventually saving enough money

to transform an outdoor shed into a smokehouse for fish. In 1922 he purchased a store on King

Street and named the business Louis Silverstein and Sons Ltd. Besides running the fish market,

Silverstein was a prominent member within SoHo’s Jewish community. He was a part of several

Jewish organisations, serving as president of the B’nai Moses Ben Judah Synagogue and a

member of the Jewish Community Council. Silverstein passed away in 1940 while living at his

residence at 219 Ottaway Avenue (South Street) and his sons took over the market until they

retired in 1969. A few years later, Louis’s grandson Len Silverstein bought back the store on

King Street and continued to run the family business until 1987.356

356 Gibb, “SoHo Community History Project,” Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
355 “Bankruptcy Moves Make for a Sad Day,” LFP, 1971, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
354 Solomon S. Grafstein, 14th Annual London Jewish Directory (1950-51), 148, File 14, Series 1, Fonds 38, OJA.
353 Orlandini, Scrap, Salvage, and Sell.
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Fink Meats and Grocery Store, located on Wellington Street, was another Jewish-run

business. In 1965, Rose and Meyer Fink opened their store, operating it until 1977. During these

twelve years, it was a successful family business popular among Jewish and Gentile residents

alike, becoming a well known-landmark.357

Many of SoHo’s earliest Jewish immigrants had children who became prominent figures

of SoHo’s Jewish community. The Siskind presence in London dates back to 1901 with the

arrival of Solomon and Rose Siskind and their six children; the family lived at 461 Simcoe

Street.358 Solomon Siskind was born in 1862 in Russia and died in 1929 in London after spending

twenty-six years working as a junk peddler.359 Moses Siskind, the only son of Solomon and Rose,

was a pillar in the Jewish community. He was a founder of SoHo’s second synagogue, the B’nai

Moses Ben Judah Synagogue, helped establish the Talmud Torah Hebrew School, and played a

large role in the Hebrew Free Loan Society. Moses Siskind married Rachel Leah Zimmerman

and they had six children: Isaac, Abraham, Sam, Max, Betty

and Jack.360

Two Siskind brothers were well known in SoHo’s

Jewish community; Isaac was in the insurance and hotel

business while Abraham Siskind became a successful lawyer.361

Abraham started practising law in the 1930s in an office

downtown on King Street.362 He was senior partner in the law

firm of Siskind, Taggart, and Cromarty, a lecturer at the

Western law school, and president of the Middlesex Law

Association. Besides the role he played in the legal world,

Abraham Siskind was also a past president of the B’nai Brith

362 About Us, Siskind’s Law Firm, https://www.siskinds.com/about-us/?matchtype=b&network=g&device=c&ad
position=&keyword=siskinds&ct=y&gclid=CjwKCAiAl9efBhAkEiwA4TorigRec04GIJP4QRtyHY5JQpsPpkUjbgr
TGoqbd7AfKqpH2TvYxgGFPxoCutsQAvD_BwE (February 22, 2023).

361 Del Bell, “Ike Siskind Classic Immigrant Success Story,” LFP, 1980, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
360 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario, 41-42.
359 1929 Middlesex County Death Record, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

358 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario, 41; 1911 Middlesex County Marriage Record,
Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

357 Don James, “Fink Store Closing Up, Seniors Regret Loss,” LFP, September 1977, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
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Lodge, a Jewish community club for men established in 1928.363 When Abraham passed away at

the age of fifty-five in 1963, his son Paul joined the law firm and continued the Siskind family

legacy.364

In 1899, Max Lerner and his family came to Canada from Bessarabia, or modern day

Moldova. In 1904 he married his wife Minnie Rosenthal and started his life in London as a

junk-peddler. Lerner became a businessman who worked in the clothing trade, and the coal,

tobacco, and real-estate businesses, until he retired in the late 1940s. Max Lerner was also a

politician and activist. In 1915 he was elected the alderman for Ward 3 in London which

encompassed part of the SoHo neighbourhood.365 A spokesperson for London’s Jewish

community, he fought hard to open federal immigration laws for Eastern-European Jews.366 His

two sons, Mayer and Sam Lerner, have built one of the most successful law firms in

southwestern Ontario.

Mayer Lerner was born in 1906, and Sam in 1916. They both attended Western law

school and established their own firm together in the late 1940s. Since the brothers were ten

years apart, they pursued different careers first. Sam joined the Middlesex and Huron Regiment

in the Second World War, and he defended his fellow soldiers in police and martial courts. He

eventually was promoted to major and became the personal assistant to the

quartermaster-general. Although Sam was offered a promotion with the Canadian army, he

decided to partner with Mayer to create the Lerner and Lerner Law Firm in 1945. The two

brothers enjoyed different roles within the firm as Mayer took on civil and criminal litigation

work, and Sam completed most of the administrative work. The firm expanded throughout the

1950s, and by the 1980s, the firm had over 100 employees including twenty-six lawyers. Sam

continued his military career while working at the firm and was involved in the militia in the

1950s, retiring in 1963 as a lieutenant-colonel.367 Mayer became a crown-assistant in London and

served as an Ontario Supreme Court justice from 1971 to 1981.368

368 Bill McGuire, “Mayer Lerner: When he Speaks People still Listen,” LFP, March 2, 1986, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
367 McGuire, “The Lerner Way,” LFP, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

366 Bill McGuire, “The Lerner Way: How Two Brothers from London Built the Largest Law Firm in South-Western
Ontario,” 1986, LFP, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

365 “Prominent Londoner, Max Lerner, 83, Dies,” LFP, 1969, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
364 “Prominent Lawyer, A.B. Siskind Dies,” LFP, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
363 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
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In addition to the Lerner and Siskind families, the Wilensky family have remained a

prominent part of London’s Jewish community for generations. Brothers Beryl and Mendel

Wilensky came to Canada in 1905 and originally settled

outside of London on a farm in Rodney. Beryl and his

wife Chasa had a son named Hyman in 1907 and

shortly after the family relocated to 98 Clarence Avenue

in SoHo. The Wilensky brothers and their families later

moved to a building on the corner of Maitland and Grey

streets where they operated a grocery store and butcher

shop on the bottom floor, and the families lived

upstairs.369 Beryl and Chasa’s son Hyman studied

medicine at Western University, graduating in 1930.

After graduation, Wilensky struggled to find himself an

internship in London because of his Jewish background.

He was forced to take an internship at the Queen

Alexandra Sanatorium, which treated tuberculosis

patients. Here, Wilensky focused on diseases of the chest and ultimately opened his own medical

office in SoHo at the corner of Maitland and Horton.370 Despite the discrimination and

difficulties he faced at the beginning of his medical career, Dr Wilensky ran a successful medical

practice as London’s first Jewish

doctor and was well known

throughout the Jewish community.

Dr Wilensky’s daughter Beryl

followed in her father’s footsteps

and became a doctor and

prominent figure in London’s

Jewish community. When Beryl

and her husband Noam Chernick

370 Dr Beryl Chernick, Interview with Jessica Hugh and Hannah Mantel, January 31, 2023.
369 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario, 87.
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attended Western’s medical school, they lived in her father’s old medical office in SoHo after it

was transformed into an apartment. Both focused on reproductive health and during the 1960s,

Beryl ran a contraceptive clinic in London before birth control was officially legalised in Canada

in 1969. Besides being an advocate for women’s reproductive and sexual health, Beryl Chernick

also defied gender roles by working full time and

pursuing her dreams in medicine while taking care

of two young children. When asked if she

considered herself to be a social activist, Dr

Chernick replied “My parents raised me in such a

way that your obligation was to fulfil your

potential, it didn't matter what your gender was.”371

Beryl and Noam Chernick were also largely

involved in different organisations within

London’s Jewish community; they were dedicated

members to B’nai Israel Synagogue and Beryl

participated in Women’s Hadassah groups and

London’s branch of the National Council of Jewish

Women.

The Jewish community established lively

community groups which met for educational,

religious, recreational, and philanthropic reasons. These groups allowed Jewish immigrants to

maintain their religious and cultural practices, but also helped more recent immigrants settle into

a new life in Canada. The Jewish Immigrant Aid Society, or JIAS, was one of these

organisations. Originally established in Montreal in 1920 to assist new immigrants and refugees,

the JIAS opened a London branch in 1921. The first president was Max Lerner, and Dr Isidore

Goldstick, another prominent member of SoHo’s Jewish community, served as the organisation’s

first secretary.372 Since the JIAS had representatives from all Jewish clubs and groups within

London, it was known to be an organisation where Jews of different religious beliefs and even

372 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
371 Chernick, Interview with Hugh and Mantel, January 31, 2023.
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more “radical” backgrounds worked together to help out their fellow people.373

A large group of Russian-Jewish immigrants who arrived in London in the early 1900s

came with social and political beliefs which were often considered radical or anarchist due to

their mistrust of capitalism. A lot of these ‘radical’ Russian-Jews did not attend synagogue or

participate in religious groups, but they were still involved in philanthropic organisations, such

as the JIAS, as they were interested in giving back to the Jewish community. London’s radical

Jewish community also set up the Hebrew Free Loan Society and the Self-Education Club. The

former society, established in 1906, provided Jewish newcomers with an interest-free loan of $50

to help them get settled in London.374 $50 in 1906 would approximately be worth $1600 in 2023,

which was a great help to Jewish immigrants who came to London with next to nothing.375 The

Self-Education Club offered a small library and reading room on Grey Street with free books for

the Jewish community. These books were mainly in Yiddish and discussed ‘radical’ ideas in

economics and politics.376 When the club closed in the mid 1920s, the books were donated to the

London Jewish Library.377

Several religious organisations were active in SoHo. These included several Zionist

organisations, Women’s Hadassah groups, B’nai Brith, and several smaller groups connected to

the B’nai Israel and B’nai Moses Ben Judah synagogues. Within the congregation of the B’nai

Israel, there were leaders in addition to the rabbi who acted as the president, cantor, financial

secretary, treasurer, secretary and other roles within the synagogue. B’nai Israel also had a

women’s group called the B’nai Israel Synagogue Sisterhood established in 1934.378 B’nai Moses

Ben Judah also had a board of directors and a women’s auxiliary. Two clubs run out of the

synagogue were the Tephillin Club, which met every Sunday for prayer and discussion, and the

B’nai Moses Sisterhood. The sisterhood published the annual copy of the London Jewish

Directory, a book which listed Jewish businesses, community groups, religious congregations

378 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA;“Jewish Youth Centre to be
Opened Sunday” LFP, 1960, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

377 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario, 100.
376 London Jewish Community News, March 10, 1988, 1, 5, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

375 Bank of Canada, Inflation Calculator, https://www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/related/inflation-calculator/ (March 19,
2023).

374 Gibb, “SoHo Community History Project,” Gladstone Fonds, OJA.

373 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, The Jewish Community of London,
Ontario: A Self Survey, April 1959 (Toronto ON), Cohen Fonds, OJA.
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and addresses, following the death of the former author in 1951.379

In 1913, Morris Fishbein started the Ohave Zion or Lovers of Zion group. Zionism is an

international movement that started in the late nineteenth century and supported the

establishment of a Jewish homeland in Palestine, and later the formation of Israel. The Lovers of

Zion held their meetings at Cullis’ Hall located at 257 Wellington Street, a popular meeting place

for Jewish organisations. The Zionist group lasted for nearly twenty years and focused mainly on

collecting financial contributions for Jewish communities across the world.380 Fishbein had

immigrated to Canada from Ukraine in 1893 with his wife Miriam when there were only twelve

other Jewish families in London. The Fishbein family lived on South Street and their home was

well known for always having guests on the weekend and for helping new Jewish immigrants get

settled in SoHo. The Fishbein family were very involved in the Jewish community; Morris was

involved in the Self-Education Club, his daughter Dora started a women’s group called the

Daughters of Zion, and his wife Miriam was president of the first Hadassah chapter in London.381

The history of Women’s Hadassah groups dates back over 100 years to the early

twentieth century, established to promote Jewish ideas, institutions, and to conduct humanitarian

work. Hadassah groups encompassed women from all streams of Judaism and included Zionist

and non-Zionist Jewish women.382 London has had several Hadassah chapters and their meetings

mainly took place in private homes. Women involved in Hadassah chapters were also most likely

involved in other Jewish clubs, groups, and organisations.383 Anna Selick and Anna Goldstick

founded London’s first Hadassah chapter in 1918 with twenty other women enrolled as members.

This chapter was known as the Rose Kaplan Chapter, and Miriam Fishbein acted as the first

president and one of the most dedicated Hadassah members.384 Founding member Anna

Goldstick served as president, secretary, and was honoured as a Life-Member of the

Hadassah-Wizo organisation of Canada in 1955. Anna’s husband Dr Isidore Goldstick was also

384 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, Jewish Community of London, Ontario: A
Self Survey, Cohen Fonds, OJA.

383 Chernick, Interview with Hugh and Mantel, January 31, 2023.

382 “Founding of Hadassah: The Women's Zionist Organization of America,” Jewish Women’s Archive,
https://jwa.org/ thisweek/feb/24/1912/hadassah (February 23, 2022).

381 London Jewish Community News, March 10, 1988, 1, 5, Ronnee Alter Fonds, 2017-6-9, OJA.

380 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, Jewish Community of London, Ontario: A
Self Survey, Cohen Fonds, OJA.

379 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
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involved in various community groups, including Zionist ones, and supported Hebrew education

in London.385

In 1928, the Jewish community established a second Hadassah group known as the

Tabelle Burns Chapter. Membership for this Hadassah chapter eventually reached 125 members,

a large part of London's Jewish population of approximately 700 people.386 The earlier chapter

established was known as the parent institution and renamed the Senior Chapter of Hadassah;

this chapter lasted until 1957 when the remaining members joined the Tabelle Burns Chapter.387

Other prominent members of Hadassah groups included Ethel Palef Lerner (Mayer Lerner’s

wife), Minnie Lerner, Reva Grafstein, and Jennie Leff (William Leff’s wife).

In addition to Hadassah groups, Jewish women in London participated in the local branch

of the National and International Council of Jewish Women (NCJW and ICJW). The ICJW

represents millions of Jewish women in over thirty-five countries and is recognized as a

non-governmental international organisation at the United Nations.388 Established in 1897, the

National Council of Jewish Women aided Jewish immigrants. In 1950, the NCJW established a

London branch and volunteers aided the Canadian Cancer Society, Canadian Mental Health

Association, Ontario Hospitals, London Jewish Youth Association, Canadian Red Cross

Association, and local women’s groups and shelters, specifically the London Women’s

Community House (now Anova).389 London’s branch of the NCJW is most well known for its

initiative the Block Parent program in 1968, in response to the murder of a London child. A way

to provide safe places for children in danger, the London police and school boards supported the

program, which eventually spread across the country.390

390 NCJW, “A Brief History of Block Parents of Winnipeg,” Winnipeg Block Parents, https://www.winnipegblock
parents.mb.ca/page2.html (March 20, 2023); Gladstone, A History of the Jewish Community of London Ontario,
188; “London Block Parents Closing Doors for Good,” LFP, November 7, 2016, https://lfpress.com/2016/11/07/
london-block-parent-program-shutting-down#:~:text=The%20London%20Block%20Parent%20program,deciding%
20which%20groups%20receive%20grants (March 9, 2023).

389 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA; “National Council of Jewish
Women- London Section Volunteer Service ‘Shopping Guide,’” Alter Fonds, 2017-6-9, OJA; National Council of
Jewish Women London Section Newsletter, July 1994, Alter Fonds, OJA.

388 “Concern is our Tradition,” National Council of Jewish Women, Ronnee Alter Fonds 2017-6-9, OJA.

387 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, Jewish Community of London, Ontario: A
Self Survey, Cohen Fonds, OJA.

386 Alan M. Cohen, The Organization of the Jewish Community of London (1973), Cohen Fonds, OJA.
385 Goldstick Family File, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
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In 1925, Dr Isidore Goldstick founded another religious group, the London Lodge B’nai

B'rith Branch No.1012. Goldstick also served as the lodge’s first president. B’nai B’rith included

members from the various streams of Judaism. Goldstick was a Zionist; other former presidents

of B’nai B’rith included Israel Leff, Julius Cohen, David Wolf, and Isaac Siskind. The activities

of the B’nai B'rith were mainly educational. In 1926 it established the Talmud Torah at 324 Hill

Street for Jewish youth. In addition to the lodge’s interest in Jewish education, they also oversaw

all communal activity before the London Jewish Community Council was established.391

In 1933, members from several Jewish groups established the London Jewish Community

Council to serve as the community’s communal organisation.392 One year later, the council

affiliated with the Canadian Jewish Congress, which had been established in 1919 in Montreal.

Delegates from each major Canadian city’s Jewish community sat in the congress. In 1919,

Goldstick and Fishbein served as London’s delegates.393 After the London Jewish Community

Council re-organised in 1934, members of the Jewish community elected eighteen members to

393 Research Committee of the Canadian Jewish Congress Central Region, Jewish Community of London, Ontario: A
Self Survey, Cohen Fonds, OJA.

392 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
391 Goldstick, Canadian Jewish Reference Book and Directory, Gladstone Fonds, OJA.
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sit on its executive board. The council serves as the executive of all matters within London’s

Jewish community, and consults for London’s municipal government.394

After the Second World War, an influx of

Holocaust survivors from Europe immigrated to Canada.

Approximately forty to fifty Jewish couples and families

arrived in London between the late 1940s to 1960s.

Overall, London’s Jewish population increased from 731

in 1941, to 1,300 in 1961.395 The local branch of the

Jewish Immigrant Aid Society helped this new wave of

Jewish immigrants settle.396

Since many had lived through the Holocaust,

these new immigrants did not identify with the existing

Jewish community. They joined London synagogues

but also felt the need to establish a new organisation, the

Shearit Hapletah, or “ʽremnants of the people,’” a

society which frequently met at the Talmud Torah

building on Hill Street for social gatherings.397

Fanny Goose, known as the ‘First Lady of Downtown,’ for her successful clothing

business and active role in the community, was one of these post-war immigrants. Both

Holocaust survivors from Poland, she and her husband Jerry, or Fanya and Jerszy Gusz, came to

London in 1950.398 Realising that many immigrants struggling with English were too shy to enter

clothing shops, she began taking direct orders from both Jewish and non-Jewish immigrant

customers. Rather than running a brick-and-mortar store, Goose took orders in person or over the

phone, went to wholesale and discount warehouse factories in Toronto, and then delivered the

clothing to individual customers. The Gooses expanded their business by purchasing a home on

York Street and turning it into both a living space and their first official clothing store.

398 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community in London, 150.
397 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community in London, 151.
396 Chernick, Interview with Hugh and Mantel, January 31, 2023.
395 Gladstone, History of the Jewish Community in London, 140, 149.
394 Alan Cohen, The Organization of the Jewish Community of London (London, 1973), 12-13, Cohen Fonds, OJA.
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405 “Scrawled Racist Epithets Included in Vandalism at Jewish Cemetery,” LFP, 1973, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds
17, OJA.

404 “Legion Members ask Ottawa to ban National Socialists,” 1967, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds 17, OJA.

403 “Nazis Pass Leaflets while Bylaw Studied,” Globe and Mail, Toronto, 1967, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds 17,
OJA.

402 Harold Vaisler, Letter to the Jewish Community of London, 1967, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds 17, OJA.
401 “Police Halt Nazi Leaflet Distribution,”LFP, 1967, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds 17, OJA.
400 “London Tabbed Future Nazi Stronghold,” LFP, April 1967, File 31, Series 5-4-8, Fonds 17, OJA.

399 Fanny Goose and Janet Fridman, Rising from the Holocaust: The Life of Fanny Goose (Washington, DC: Believe
Books, 2007), 112, 119.
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Eventually she moved the location to 122 Dundas Street, naming the store J. Goose Family

Clothing which remained open until 2010.399

 Between the 1960s-70s, antisemitism rose in London as the Canadian Nazi Party spread 

anti-semitic ideas and attracted more followers. The national leader of the Canadian Nazi Party, 

John Beattie, chose London as the party’s new headquarters and named Martin Weiche, a land 

developer, the leader of the party’s branch in London.400 The Nazi Party handed out hate-literature 

in London’s downtown core. These pamphlets commonly depicted swastikas and the Nazi eagle 

symbol which disturbed the majority of passer-byers who either crumpled the pamphlets up, or 

handed them in to the local police station.401 In response, the London Jewish Community Council 

established a committee to deal with anti-semitism.402 London’s city council expressed concern 

about the newfound presence of the Canadian Nazi Party and discussed how they could tighten the 

control over the distribution of pamphlets in the streets. Unfortunately, no existing by-laws could 

stop Weiche and his followers passing out propaganda.403 The Jewish Community Council, along 

with the support of several city councillors and the Royal Canadian Legion, urged the federal 

government to ban hate literature distributed by the Canadian Nazi Party, with no result.404 The 

Canadian Nazi Party in London only ever gained the support of a small group of extremists, but 

anti-semitic acts persisted. In 1973, gravestones at the Or Shalom Cemetery were knocked over, 

and its memorial for Jews killed in the Second World War vandalised.405



4.8 Lebanese, Syrian, and Palestinian Communities

The first wave of Middle Eastern immigrants to London arrived in the early twentieth century,

primarily from Wādī al-Beqaa, Qaraoun, and Baaloul in Lebanon, but also from other towns in

Lebanon, Syria, and Palestine.406 They sought to escape poverty and political instability in their

home countries, which were then under Ottoman Empire rule and facing increasing colonial

interest from Britain, Germany, and France.407 Many also emigrated following the Great Famine

of Mount Lebanon during the First World War, brought on by Turkish land blockades.408 These

immigrants came to Canada mostly as merchants and labourers. This included Syrian-born

Alexander Abdallah and Louisa Abdenour, who operated Abdullah Bros., a fruit business at 225

Bathurst Street in the 1920s.409 The couple lived on Talbot Street with their daughter Josephine,

409 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1920 (Hamilton: Henry
Vernon & Son, 1920), 181.

408 Melanie Tanielian, The Charity of War: Famine, Humanitarian Aid, and World War I in the Middle East
(Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2017), 25.

407 William Shorrock, “The Origin of the French Mandate in Syria and Lebanon: The Railroad Question,
1901–1914,” International Journal of Middle East Studies 1, 2 (1970): 133-53.

406 Hanny Shousher and Nadia H. Shousher, Now and Then: An Historical Overview of the Muslim and Arab
Communities of London, Ontario (London: Creation Signs & Printing, 2013), 4.
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Louisa’s sister Thelma, Alexander’s sisters Edna and Sarah, and his aunt, Harara.410

The Escaf family settled around the same time.

Joseph Escaf and Camom Musollum immigrated to

London in 1906 from Syria along with their sons, Ragi,

Charles, and Abraham, the first of whom would marry

Edna Abdallah in 1928.411 The couple had two sons

together, Edward and Fred, and a daughter, Adeline, and

the family lived at 296 Thames Street.412 The two

brothers established Friar’s Cellar restaurant at the

corner of Wellington and Bathurst in the 1940s. The

business grew to also include Friars II, a catering

business. The restaurant was a popular one among

locals, and it employed a good few as well. On busy

shifts, the restaurant might have as many as six cooks,

six servers, three waiters, and three dishwashers. Escaf was known to most as the high-profile

older sibling—he even had a short career in broadcasting. Fire destroyed the restaurant in 1991

and the business then sold to new owners.413

Community was very important to these early settlers. Both the Abdallah and Escaf

families were Roman Catholic and likely attended St. Mary’s on Lyle Street, along with many of

the other early Syrian and Lebanese families. Many of them also founded the Syrian-Lebanese

Club, which met weekly to aid each other with settling into London, as well as to play cards and

socialise.414

The 1948 Palestine War led to a significant wave of immigration from the Middle East to

North America. This conflict displaced hundreds of thousands of Palestinians and Arabs from

neighbouring nations, including Lebanon, who fled abroad as refugees. The war began in May

414 Shousher and Shousher, Now and Then, 4.

413 James Reaney, “My London: Escaf Served Full-course Charm,” LFP, April 8, 2016, https://lfpress.com/2016/04/
08/my-london-escaf-served-full-course-charm (October 30, 2023).

412 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1929 (Hamilton: Henry
Vernon & Son, 1929), 345.

411 Ontario, Registrations of Marriages, 1869-1928, Reel 868, FamilySearch.org.

410 Canada, Census of Canada, 1921, https://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.item/?app=Census1921&op=img&id=e002941527
(February 27, 2023).
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1948, following the end of the British Mandate in Palestine, and lasted over a year. During this

time, Zionist forces fought against Palestinian and Arab armies, resulting in the establishment of

the State of Israel.415 Ayshi, Yehia, Hussein, and Hanny Shousher, along with their widowed

mother Fatima, immigrated to London at this time, and were likely among those affected by this

refugee crisis. Hussein, Hanny, and Fatima then lived at 88 Wharncliffe Road South.416 Ayshi

lived with her husband, Alex Hassan, just south of SoHo.417 Hanny began working as a machine

operator at McCormick's Factory on 1156 Dundas Street and Hussein worked as a labourer at

Labatts in SoHo.418

The 1950s saw the founding of the Canadian Moslem Benevolent Society (CMBS) which

established a place of worship for the growing population of Muslims in London and to educate

community members about Islam.419 In 1955, London hosted the fourth annual North American

Muslim convention, where over 1000 Muslims came to celebrate and learn. It was at this

convention that the CMBS announced that they would be purchasing property to open a mosque

in London.420 Whilst this mosque was opened outside of SoHo, many of SoHo’s Muslims

remained as residents.

420 Amna Wasty, “Ontario's First Mosque, Here in London, Laid a Foundation,” LFP, June 28, 2013,
https://lfpress.com/2013/06/28/ontarios-first-mosque-here-in-london-laid-a-foundation (February 27, 2023).

419 Shousher and Shousher, Now and Then, 8.
418 Vernon’s City of London 1956, 437.

417 Vernon’s City of London: Street, Alphabetical, Business and Miscellaneous Directory 1956 (Hamilton: Henry
Vernon & Son, 1956), 269.

416 Shousher and Shousher, Now and Then, 8.

415 Benny Morris, The Birth of the Palestinian Refugee Problem Revisited (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,
2004), 44.
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4.9 Maltese Community

Most migrants from the central Mediterranean island of Malta began immigrating to London, and

Canada more broadly, between 1948 and the 1980s. There were instances of Maltese individuals

and families migrating to other places in Canada prior to this, the earliest of which arrived in

1835, but the numbers were very small. In 1923, the Canadian government issued a Privy

Council Order which excluded British subjects in its colony of Malta from immigrating.421 In

1948, the Maltese Prime Minister announced that an agreement had been met and Canada would

accept 500 Maltese men as construction workers under an assisted-migrant-passage agreement.

134 of these first men arrived in southwestern Ontario in May 1948, finding homes in London,

St. Thomas, and other nearby towns. The London Free Press considered their arrival to be front

page news, declaring that the “tanned men from Malta tumbled from their colonist coaches at

London C.N.R. Station… on the last lap of the journey from the war-ravaged Mediterranean

isle.”422 Larger Maltese communities developed in Canada’s metropolitan regions after the

Second World War. Most notable is the community of Little Malta in Toronto’s Junction

neighbourhood. London quickly developed into one of Canada’s largest communities of Maltese

emigrants and hosted its own variety of Maltese businesses, including Valletta Flowers at 135

Adelaide Street South, named for Malta’s capital city, and Maurice Body Shop in south London,

owned by former SoHo resident Maurice D’Agostino.423

Three versions of a local Maltese-Canadian club have existed in London. A group of men

established the second club in the 1950s during a conversation at Charles Pace's barber shop on

Dundas Street, which acted as a meeting point thanks to the Maltese barber himself.424 In the

1950s, membership lists of the club indicate a variety of members living within the boundaries of

SoHo, including Emmanuel Agius, Frank Cassar, Felix Cassar, Peter Cassar, Reno Camenzuli,

A. Farruci, David Gibson, and Anthony and Emmanuel “Lee” Pavia.425

425 Membership lists, c1950s, File 6, B4478-003, Maltese-Canadian Club Collection, ASCWU.
424 Mary Pavia Melvin, Interview with Niġel Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Sarah Pointer, February 19, 2023
423 “Valletta Flowers,” Maltese-Canadian Club Newsletter, January-February 1987, 7, ASCWU.
422 “134 From Malta Arrive in City,” LFP, May 21, 1948.

421 Lawrence E. Attard, “Emigration,” Malta: Culture and Identity, ed. H. Frendo and O. Friggieri (Malta: Ministry
for Youth and the Arts, 1994), 259.
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Four of these men lived at 263 Adelaide Street, a kind of boarding house owned by

Maltese couple Ġużeppi and Ġużeppina Farrugia. The couple had one son, Carmel Farrugia, who

worked at the Canada Bread factory in the 1950s.426 These boarding houses were common

among the Maltese community and there appeared to be a few

throughout London, including one just north of SoHo at 293 King

Street. Incoming Maltese immigrants rented a room from a more

well-established Maltese person, usually in SoHo. Oftentimes, the

owner of the house was a relative and also acted as the incomer’s

sponsor, assisting them with finding a job and getting settled.427

One of the earliest Maltese families in London was the

Pavia family. Emmanuel “Lee” Pavia was born in Żabbar, Malta,

and came to Canada on his twenty-first birthday in 1950. At first,

he lived on Waverley Place with his brother John Pavia, who acted

as his sponsor, and also resided for a brief period at 263 Adelaide

Street with the Farrugia family.428 He joined what was then known

as the Maltese Association of London, the first iteration of a

Maltese club in London formed by the initial immigrants of

1948.429 His first job was with the Canadian National Rail at the

roadhouse on Egerton as a welder, and he remained there for a short period before getting fired.

Used to a relaxed work schedule at the Malta dockyards, Pavia took his lunch breaks as he saw

fit. Upon being terminated, he quickly realised that his former work ethic was incompatible with

life in Canada. He soon found new work with General Motors Diesel.

Three years after immigrating, he called for his girlfriend from Malta to join him.

Michelina “Lena” Camenzuli arrived in London in January 1953, and the couple married three

Saturdays later to prevent her being deported to Malta—coincidentally, this landed on

Valentine’s Day. That same year, the couple bought their first home in SoHo at 538 Philip Street

429 Dan Brock, “Lee Pavia: London, Ontario’s Only Maltese Canadian Band Leader,” The Maltese Presence in North
America (November 2021), 36, https://foreign.gov.mt/en/government/mla/documents/e-newsletters/north-america/
032-maltese%20presence-november-2021.pdf (April 19, 2023).

428 Membership lists, c1950s, File 6, B4478-003, Maltese-Canadian Club Collection, ASCWU.
427 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
426 Vernon’s City of London 1956, 230.
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and had their first child, Mary. The Pavia family had Romanian and Polish families as

neighbours, the Diedisch and Kaszowski families respectively, and they became close friends.

The Pavia family was also close with the Moxleys, a Black family, and Betty Moxley babysat

Mary Pavia. She grew close to the Moxleys’ daughters as they attended Aberdeen school

together and she occasionally joined them at church services at Beth Emanuel. Paul Lewis, the

Black activist, shoeshine man, and singer, was also the Pavia family's neighbour on the east

side.430

Lee Pavia was heavily involved in his community. He co-founded the second Maltese

club in London and held various organisational positions. Moreover, he was the only Maltese

band leader in all of Canada at the time.431 He played saxophone, piano, and the drums, though

the former was his main instrument. His band, the Golden Notes, played every Saturday from

Labour Day to the end of June for ten years at the Colborne Community Centre. The band ended

every set with a cover of ‘Pretty Woman,’ which Pavia dedicated to his daughter. He also played

in a trio at Bondi’s Pizza on Sundays in the late 1960s into the early 1970s.

During an extended strike at General Motors, Pavia found work at General Steel Wares

(formerly McClarys)in SoHo. While employed there, his daughter brought him lunch everyday

from their home on Philip Street and she would watch the appliances travel down the production

line until he could join her.432

Religion was very important to the Maltese immigrants and the community formed a

strong percentage of the congregation at St Mary’s on Lyle Street. The children of Maltese

immigrants who arrived in the early 1950s, like the Pavia family, all did first communion and

confirmation together at St Mary’s, and many got married within a short period of five years.433

London even had a local Maltese priest, Father Henry Cassano. He held positions at many

Catholic churches within London, including St Mary’s and St Peter’s, but he also offered

exclusive services to the local Maltese community.434 He conducted funeral masses for most of

434 Dan Brock, “Fr. Henry Cassano (1929-2019): 63 Years a Priest,” The Maltese Presence in North America (June
2019), 24, https://foreign.gov.mt/en/government/mla/documents/e-newsletters/north-america/003-maltese%20
presence-may-june%202019.pdf (March 15, 2023).

433 Melvin, Interviewed by Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
432 Melvin, Interviewed by Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
431 Brock, “Lee Pavia,” 36.
430 Melvin, Interview with Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
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the Maltese community in London, including Lee and Lena Pavia, and offered confession in the

Maltese language.435

The Maltese language is often not taught to the children of immigrant parents and quickly

gets lost in multigenerational immigrant families. The Maltese community attempted to start a

Maltese Language School at St Peter’s Cathedral Basilica in the early 1980s funded by the

Government of Canada’s Cultural Enrichment Program. Around twenty children registered but

the programme only lasted a few years.436

436 Melvin, Interviewed by Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.
435 Melvin, Interviewed by Klemenčič-Puglisevich and Pointer, 2023.

SoHo STORY | 119



4.10 Polish Community

There have been six significant waves of Polish immigration to Canada, but SoHo only felt three.

The Polish community was already present in London in the early 1900s before either of the

larger waves of Polish immigration to London in the later half of the twentieth century. In 1901,

three Polish families and a few single men appeared on the census. By 1911, London’s Polish

community had grown significantly, shooting up from around forty people to over 150. The

majority lived in SoHo. In 1921, nearly 200 Polish people lived in the city.437 To stay connected,

they formed the Polish National Association. The association funded itself through a small

variety store, dances, and concerts, and bought the property at 554 Hill Street, once the Second

Baptist Church, to create the Polish Hall.438 This first group of immigrants was a prelude to the

large wave of immigration immediately after the Second World War.

The situation for Polish people was complex at the end of the war. As part of the Yalta

and Potsdam agreements, the Allies withdrew support for the Polish government in exile in the

UK and instead recognized the government in Poland that became the Polish People’s Republic.

Additionally, General Wladylaw Anders dissolved the Polish Armed Forces in the west in 1947,

leaving soldiers in a precarious position. Soldiers, a large number of civilians who had travelled

with the army, and Poles who had been imprisoned by the Nazis, could either choose to return to

Poland or immigrate to another country. Due to political uncertainty, soldiers across Europe

banded together and founded Polish Combatants’ Associations to help navigate the post-war

world.439

In 1946, 400 Polish veterans arrived in the London area, and in 1947 formed London’s

first Polish Combatants’ Association. Its first meeting had 317 attendees. Polish immigrants

continued to arrive en masse into the 1950s. The majority had been either Polish soldiers,

inmates of Nazi camps, or political refugees of Communist Poland. By 1950, women began

joining the Combatants’ Association in larger numbers.440

440 Hentel, “Veterans of the Polish Second Corps.”
439 Hentel, “Veterans of the Polish Second Corps.”
438 Polish National Association, About Us, polishhall.org/en/about.htm (April 5, 2022).

437 Data obtained through the databases for the censuses of 1901, 1911, and 1921 by Library and Archives Canada.
SoHo fell into Wards 1 and 3, but these districts are also slightly bigger than SoHo. The relevant information is for
London, Wards 1 and 3. For 1921, we used Ward 1, Sub-districts 3, 4, 5, and 7 and Ward 3, Sub-districts, 27, 32, 33,
36, 37, 38, 39 but again the boundaries are not exact to SoHo.
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A variety of other ethnicities appear in the records about SoHo and in accounts from

people interviewed for this project. This includes but is not limited to immigrants from Portugal,

Greece, Ukraine, Romania, Latvia, Lithuania, the Caribbean, and Japan. Additionally, narrators

and records show that these communities lived alongside Indigenous peoples. It is clear that

there was a large range of ethnicities in SoHo. This included families who had intermarried

between groups, including the Lees and Theurmans. The Lees resided at 295 Hill Street in 1921.

At that time, widow Ethel Lee, lived in the home with her four daughters, Leath, Edna, Mary,

and Florence, and the girls’ aunt Feebie. The census enumerator recorded Ethel and Feebie as

English. The home also had a boarder, Lee Chong, a cafe manager, who had immigrated in

1911. The girls' late father and Ethel's husband, a Chinese man named Poy Lee, worked as a

laundry man.441 Another family, residing at 1 Webb Street, housed John Theurman, a “coloured”

man with his wife Sophia, recorded as Oneida in the census. The couple had six children, two

sons and four older daughters ranging in age from one to fifteen.442 This diversity did not always

equate to acceptance, but the general feeling expressed by residents of the neighbourhood was

that the SoHo community was more accepting of diversity than other areas of London.

442 Canada, Census of Canada, 1921, https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=
census&IdNumber=64541889 (April 16, 2023).

441 Canada, Census of Canada, 1921, http://central.bac-lac.gc.ca/.redirect?app=census&id=64531474&lang=eng
(March 18, 2023); Poy Lee and Effie Brown Marriage Registration, July 2, 1908, Ontario Marriages, 1869-1927
Database, https://familysearch.org/ark:/61903/1:1:KSZD-1VZ (April 16, 2023).
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5. THE WORLD WARS

5.1 The First World War

London served as a military headquarters for the surrounding area. Over the course of the war,

Wolseley Barracks recruited, trained and mobilised over 50,000 members of the Canadian

Expeditionary Force (CEF).443 Soldiers from London fought within the 1st, 18th, 33rd, 70th,

135th, 142nd Battalions and the No. 2 Construction Battalion. Over 300 people from the SoHo

neighbourhood enlisted.444 SoHo’s soldiers represented the diversity of the neighbourhood as

men and women from the Black, Irish, Italian, Indigenous, German, and French communities all

enlisted.

When the war began in 1914, many Black Canadians volunteered, but were turned away

as local recruiting and commanding officers believed they were unfit to serve based on racist

assumptions. Black Canadians continued to pressure their local governments and military

headquarters to allow them to serve overseas. Two years into the war, the Department of Defence

and Militia decided that rather than integrating Black soldiers into existing military units, a new

segregated battalion should be formed. In July 1916, the department formed the No. 2

Construction Battalion under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Daniel H. Sutherland. The No.

2 Construction Battalion was a labour division tasked with digging trenches, supplying lumber to

the front, operating the water system for military camps, and later they maintained the electrical

system.445 The battalion recruited men across Canada and left for England in March 1917 with

almost 600 soldiers. Then they proceeded to France to assist the Canadian Forestry Corps.446 Out

of these 600 men, three volunteers from SoHo served with the No. 2 Construction Battalion.

These men were Russell Miller from 79½ Clarence Street, Harry Alexander Morgan from 424

446 Mathias Joost, No.2 Construction Battalion, Valour Canada https://valourcanada.ca/military-history-library/no-2
-construction-battalion/ (March 22, 2023).

445 Historic Sites and Monuments Boards, Backgrounder, Nº 2 Construction Battalion, CEF, National Historic Event,
https://parks.canada.ca/culture/clmhc-hsmbc/res/information-backgrounder/bataillon-de-la-construction-battalion
(March 22, 2023).

444 Cristi Jerez, “ArcGIS: Vision SoHo,” SoHo Soldiers Mapping Project, presentation to the Vision SoHo Alliance,
August 2022.

443 Soldiers’ Aid Commission, The Khaki Guide: Information of Interest to Returned Soldiers in Military District
Number One (London, 1918), 16-17.
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obliging soldier and his fellow soldiers remembered him because of the time he was hit in the

head with a bully-beef can when someone was using it to test out a trench catapult.450 This

incident was recorded in Aikenhead’s service record as an “accidental head-wound” when he

visited a Canadian Field Ambulance.451

Henry Milligan was another member of the 18th Battalion. Milligan was an accountant

by trade and worked at the McClary's factory before he enlisted in October 1914.452 He was

forty-three years old when he enlisted and had seventeen

years of military experience under his belt from serving

with the 7th Fusiliers and the Middlesex-Huron

Regiment. Upon enlistment, he became second in

command at the rank of a major.453 In July 1916, he was

appointed to the rank of lieutenant-colonel and served as

the 18th’s commanding officer until he transferred in

October to the Canadian Training Division.454 The 18th

Battalion, led by Milligan, fought in the Battle of the

Somme which took place from July to November 1916

and is known for being one of the deadliest battles of the

First World War. Over 300 members of the 18th

Battalion were reported missing, injured or were killed in

action during the Somme.455 After the war, Milligan and

Aikenhead were involved in the 18th Battalion

Association, which was formed shortly after the First

455 War Diary of the 18th Battalion September 1916, War Diary of the 18th Battalion CEF, https://18thbattalioncef.
blog/2015/10/20/18th-battalion-war-diary-september-1916/ (March 22, 2023).

454 Summary of Service for Lt.-Col Henry Linton Milligan, DSO, MID, War Diary of the 18th Battalion CEF,
https://18thbattalioncef.blog/soldiers-listed-in-diary/milligan-henry-linton-major/ (February 24, 2023); Milligan,
attestation papers, RG150, LAC.

453 Col. H. Milligan Dies in London,” LFP, July 2, 1941.

452 “Wife of 18th Commander Dies After Operation,” Exeter Times, September 21, 1916, 4; Henry Linton Milligan,
attestation papers, Canadian Expeditionary Forces Papers, RG150, LAC.

451 Aikenhead, attestation papers, RG150, LAC.

450 18th Battalion Association: Windsor and Detroit Branch MEMORIES, War Diary of the 18th Battalion CEF,
https://18thbattalioncef.blog/memories-of-the-18th-battalion/3-private-aikenhead-and-the-younger-set/ (February 24,
2023).
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World War and had several events and reunions in London. The 18th Battalion Association met

until the last veterans of the battalion died, but the memory and spirit of the association is kept

alive by an 18th Battalion Facebook Group, and a blog which shares articles and war diaries in

memory of the men who served in the battalion.

Four brothers of the Pritchett/

Jennings family served in the First

World War. Three of the four, Henry

and Fred Pritchett, and their

half-brother Garfield Jennings lived

together at 513 Hill Street and they all

listed Lucy Pritchett, who resided

across the street at 512 Hill, as their

next of kin. The fourth brother, Edward

John Pritchett, and his wife Ivy lived on

Simcoe Street. Henry and Edward

Pritchett both served with the 70th

Overseas Battalion whose headquarters was in London. Edward enlisted in August 1915, served

in England, and was discharged in 1918 after contracting bronchitis and treated in a military

hospital in Sussex. Henry Pritchett enlisted with the 70th Battalion in November 1915 but

transferred to the 58th Battalion in France. He was wounded in 1917 at the Battle of

Passchendaele, but served until May 1919 when he was discharged. He earned the rank of

sergeant and won three sergeant stripes. Fred Pritchett enlisted in August 1914 with Princess

Patricia's Canadian Light Infantry and served in France until discharged in 1917 due to an elbow

injury. Garfield Jennings enlisted in August 1914 and was discharged in 1916 as medically unfit

for service.456

Canadian women during the First World War contributed to the war effort; 2800 nurses

volunteered their services in hospitals and casualty clearing stations overseas close to the front

456 Harry Henry Pritchett, Fred Pritchett, Garfield Jennings, and Edward John Pritchett, attestation papers, Canadian
Expeditionary Forces Papers, RG 150, LAC; “Part 12 CEF Badges 63-75,” Canadian Soldiers, https://www.canadian
soldiers.com/insignia/brookerpdfs/Part%2012%20CEF%20badges%2063%20-%2075.pdf; Fourth brother in
casualty list, reported wounded,” London Advertiser, November 13, 1917, 1.
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lines. Canadian nurses served in England, France, the Middle East, Africa, the Mediterranean,

and even on hospital ships. These women worked in dangerous circumstances and many of them

lost their lives due to enemy attacks, or from contracting contagious diseases from patients.457

Women from London most commonly served in overseas hospitals established by

members of the Faculty of Medicine at Western. In April 1916, the War Office authorised the

formation of the No. 10 Stationary Hospital, to be commanded by Dr Edwin Seaborn, who

graduated from Western in 1895. The No. 10 required a team consisting of fourteen male

officers, twenty-seven nursing officers, and 118 other ranks and once the unit was authorised,

Seaborn mailed out invitations to volunteer to all known graduates of Western’s medical faculty

and of the nursing programs at St Josephs and Victoria Hospital.458 Eleven of the No. 10

Stationary Hospital’s nurses were trained at Victoria Hospital, including the nursing matron,

Helena Elizabeth Dulmage.459 Dulmage graduated from Victoria Hospital’s nursing program in

1906, but worked at the Sarnia General Hospital as the superintendent of nursing until joining the

No. 10.460 Born in 1876, she was forty years old when she went overseas to serve with the No.

10.461 The rest of the nurses who trained at Victoria Hospital were young women who recently

graduated. The nurses left for England in June 1916, and were joined by the rest of the division

in August. Eventually the No. 10 was sent to the front in Calais, France, in 1917 and during its

time admitted approximately 16,700 patients until the division returned to Canada in 1919.462

When Londoners heard that war in Europe officially ended on November 11, 1918, the

city erupted in festivities that lasted for a week. London’s soldiers started to arrive home at the

Canadian Pacific Railway station in December where they were greeted by crowds of family and

friends. Decorations were set up along Richmond Street to welcome home veterans. When the

1st Battalion finally arrived back in London, there was a large celebration and parade to make

462 Istl and McAlister, “Western University (No. 10 Canadian Stationary Hospital,” 371-73.
461 Helena Elizabeth Dulmage, attestation papers, Canadian Expeditionary Forces Papers, RG 150, LAC.
460 Hyatt and Geddes Poole, Battle for Life, 9-11.

459 Full list of Nursing Sisters trained at Victoria Hospital can be found in Appendix A of AMJ Hyatt and Nancy
Geddes Poole, Battle for Life : the History of No. 10 Canadian Stationary Hospital and No. 10 Canadian General
Hospital in Two World Wars (Waterloo: Laurier Centre for Military, Strategic and Disarmament Studies, 2004).

458 Alexandra C. Istl and Vivian C McAlister, “Western University (No. 10 Canadian Stationary Hospital and No. 14
Canadian General Hospital): a Study of Medical Volunteerism in the First World War,” Canadian Journal of
Surgery, 59, 6 (2016): 371-73.

457 Veterans Canada, Nursing Sisters of Canada https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/remembrance/those-who-served/
women-veterans/nursing-sisters#sisterhist2 (February 25, 2023).
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their arrival special. These festivities across the city reflected Londoners’ desire to honour their

veterans and the sacrifices made during the Great War. Commemorative plaques were established

at schools, churches, cemeteries, and other gathering places across the city. In SoHo, the War

Memorial Children’s Hospital was erected in 1922 after years of planning in order to

memorialise the experiences of soldiers and civilians, especially those from SoHo, during the

First World War.463

463 Marvin L Simner, End of the Great War in 1918 and Its Impact on London, Ontario: Prelude, Celebrations and
Aftermath (London: London and Middlesex Historical Society, 2018), 13, 24, 32.
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5.2 The Second World War

On September 10, 1939, Canada declared war on Nazi Germany during the global conflict now

known as the Second World War. In 1939, the armouries on Dundas Street and the Carling

Heights neighbourhood near the Royal Canadian Regiment became incredibly busy places as

men enlisted and trained in these areas. Women were also encouraged to register for the

Canadian Women's Army Corps, the Volunteer Aid detachment, or the Red Cross corps. In

addition to enlisting, women heavily contributed to the home front as they kept essential

industries and assembly lines running.464 From the SoHo neighbourhood alone, over 1000 men

and women enlisted and served in the Canadian Armed forces around the world.465

Similar to the First

World War, doctors and

nurses who trained at

Western’s Medical School

and Victoria Hospital were

eager to go overseas and

treat Canadian soldiers. In

1942, the Department of

National Defence

authorised the mobilisation

of the No. 10 General

Hospital, this time

commanded by Colonel HP

Hamilton of Kitchener.

Women made up a large

part of the No. 10 Hospital, with more than eighty nursing sisters, several Red Cross volunteers,

three physiotherapists, one dietician, and one occupational therapist.466 The No. 10 Hospital

served in England, France, and Belgium and nurses from the division were the first Canadian

466 Istl and McAlister, “Western University (No. 10 Canadian Stationary Hospital,” 71-74.
465 Jerez, “ArcGIS: Vision SoHo,” presentation.

464 William Elwyn Corfield and Hume Cronyn, The Home Front: London, Canada 1939-1945 (London: Sterling
Marketing, 1992), 8, 9, 55.

SoHo STORY | 128

July 23, 1944 - Canadian Nursing Sisters from the No. 10 Hospital during the 
Battle of Normandy. https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/

remembrance/those-who-served/women-veterans/nursing-sisters#sisterhist3



nursing sisters to reach France in July 1944 to treat allied soldiers fighting in the Battle of

Normandy.467

One of the most well-known units sent overseas was the First Hussars, one of the most

decorated units within the 1st Canadian Army.468 Approximately fifteen of SoHo’s 1000 Second

World War soldiers served with the First Hussars.469 As soon as war broke out, the First Hussars

immediately started training at Wolseley Barracks on Oxford Street. For the first two years of the

war, the First Hussars remained in Canada to guard prisoner of war camps in Kingston and

Gravenhurst and to train to their full potential. In January 1941, the First Hussars were attached

to Canada’s armoured division and by November they were sent overseas.

In early 1943, the unit was renamed the 6th Canadian Army Tank Regiment. The First

Hussars are well known for their contributions to many significant battles throughout the Second

World War. This includes the consolidation of Normandy and the capture of Caen at D-Day,

entering Dieppe in 1944 and liberating the French, establishing bridgeheads to liberate the

Netherlands, and entering Germany at the end of the war.470 When the First Hussars returned

home in January 1946, the city erupted in celebration as thousands of people crowded the streets.

They were the last of London’s overseas units to be welcomed back to the city.471

Between 1944-46, the Canadian army discharged and sent home troops. These men and

women arrived at the train station and large crowds and celebrations welcomed them back. The

first soldiers to arrive home came in 1944 after they had suffered a major injury and were no

longer fit for military service. Warrant Officer JA Hills of 60 Hamilton Road reached London in

July after he had an accident while on overseas service. His wife and mother greeted him at the

train station along with a large gathering waiting for the troops to arrive.472 Once the war in

Europe ended in May 1945, large numbers of troops returned by train to London. In August,

large crowds of family and friends welcomed back over 300 veterans.473 One month later, the city

473 “300 Returning Veterans Given Warm Welcome,” LFP, August 18, 1945, 15.
472 “Many London and District Men Return Home from Battle Front,” LFP, July 7, 1944, 1.

471 “1,500 Western Ontario Families Reunited With Returning Veterans: Celebrations Dot District; Fliers Arrive,”
and “Confetti Blizzard Greets Hussars on Return Home,” LFP, January 17, 1946, 12.

470 “Tanks Mobilized September, 1939,” LFP, January 16, 1946, 8.

469 First Hussars, World War Two Nominal Roll, https://www.first-hussars.ca/ww-two-nominal-rool (February 11,
2023).

468 “Hussars Top Army List For Awards, Decorations,” LFP, January 16, 1946, 8.
467 Veterans Canada, Nursing Sisters.

SoHo STORY | 129



planned a homecoming parade for the veterans of the Royal Canadian Regiment who arrived in

two special troop trains.474 In addition to crowds of friends and families, the Canadian Legion

welcomed back veterans with a special reception centre that they had built at the CNR station.475

Local businesses also showed support to soldiers with large signs and advertisements on

buildings near the train station. Signs from factories such as McClarys and Holeproof Hosiery

can be seen in the background of photos of returning veterans at the train station.476

The end of the war also brought good news to those waiting to hear about family

members over- seas. Private Roy Dale of 62 William Street served in the Scottish Regiment of

476 “District Veterans Return Home,” AFC-177-S3-SS11-F627, Archives and Special Collections, Western
University.

475 Corfield and Hume, Home Front: London, Canada 1939-1945, 58.

474 “Parade Planned For Homecoming of London Unit: Committee Arranges Welcome for Royal Canadian
Regiment,” LFP, September 22, 1945, 1.
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the Canadian army. German soldiers captured Dale in 1942 after the Dieppe Raid and he was

held in a POW Camp until the end of the war. His parents received the news that he was finally

back in Allied hands after nearly three years of not hearing from their son.477

Throughout 1946, veterans continued to arrive home. Some of the largest celebrations

took place in January upon arrival of the First Hussars, in February when 800 veterans arrived

and 2000 civilians gathered to welcome them, and finally in June when over 500 troops

returned.478 The festivities that took place in and around the train station were well remembered

by Londoners of this period.

478 “Crowd of 2000 Greets Vets at C.P.R. Station,” LFP, February 21, 1946, 1; “The C.N.R. Station Was a Busy
Place,” LFP, June 12, 1946, 11.

477 “Liberated,” LFP, May 5, 1945, 2.
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6. WESTERN’S MEDICAL SCHOOL

6.1 Before South Street

In 1882, the newly-formed Western University absorbed London’s medical school. While

associated with the university, the professors privately owned the school as shareholders.

Together, they initially agreed that the medical school lectures would be held in the large hall and

chapel of the Hellmuth Boys’ College between Wellington and Waterloo, with the dissection labs

conducted in the property’s small, five-room cottage. However, the faculty members found the

lighting and heating of the large hall inadequate.479 As a solution, the university senate gave the

Faculty of Medicine the five-room cottage and provided sufficient funding to renovate it into a

building suitable for classes, with the former drawing room remade into the main lecture hall.

The medical school did not provide desks for the students, but built a four-foot-tall riser, with

benches the width of the room at each step.480 On October 1, 1882, Dr William Ebenezer Waugh,

professor of anatomy, delivered the first lecture to sixteen students.481

From 1882-87, the medical school increased its enrolment to sixty students and rapidly

outgrew the small cottage. It was also inconvenient. The cottage was two kilometres away from

the London General Hospital (later renamed Victoria Hospital in 1899) on Ottoway (later South)

Street, requiring the department to provide students a horse-drawn bus from the London Street

Railway Company.482 In 1888, the professor-shareholders built a new three-storey red brick

building on the corner of Waterloo and York streets where the medical school remained for the

next thirty-three years.

482 Sullivan and Ball, Growing to Serve, 32.

481 Seaborn, March of Medicine, 270; John R. Sullivan and Norman Ball, Growing to Serve… A History of Victoria
Hospital (London: Victoria Hospital Corporation, 1985), 30.

480 Edwin Seaborn, March of Medicine in Western Ontario (Toronto: The Ryerson Press, 1944), 263.

479 Nancy Tausky, Cultural Heritage Assessment: Building in the South Street Hospital Complex London, Ontario
(2011), 39.
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6.2 Why Rebuild?

Abraham Flexner, an American educator, was most well-known for reforming medical and

higher education during the twentieth century. Funded and published by the Carnegie Foundation

for the Advancement of Teaching, Flexner wrote the report Medical Education in the United

States and Canada in 1910. Flexner investigated the quality of the 156 medical schools between

the two countries. Flexner found there was an “over production of commercial, for-profit

medical schools” from which students graduated ill trained.483

In 1910, Flexner described Western’s Waterloo and York medical school as “practically

independent” from the university and admonished the school for being “as bad as anything found

on this side of the line.” During his 1909 visit, Flexner found the medical museum and clinical

faculties to be inadequate and the laboratory equipment to be minimal, consisting only of

microscopes and unlabelled specimens.484

A year following the Flexner report, Western adopted the medical reforms recommended.

During 1912, medical school representatives and Western’s Board of Directors decided to end

the school’s private ownership and make it a formal department at the university. In 1913,

Western’s Board of Governors appointed Dr HA McCallum as the department’s new dean of

medicine. He accepted the position with the understanding that Western would provide a new

building and elevate the quality of medical education. In 1913, construction funds were secured

from the Ontario provincial government and three full-time professors were appointed: Dr James

S. Dickie, Anatomy, who died and was replaced by Dr Paul S. McKibben; Dr Frederick R.

Miller, Physiology, and Dr James W. Crane, Pharmacology and Biochemistry.485 As well, they

agreed that all patients in Victoria Hospital’s public wards would be accessible for teaching

purposes.486

Public hospitals cared for the poor and typically had a high death rate. Those who could

afford it purchased private medical insurance and when ill, stayed home and called a private

physician. Charitable organizations operated public hospitals, supported by provincial and

486 Sullivan and Ball, Growing to Serve, 104.

485 “The Evolution of the Harvey Club,” 1, Harvey Club Fonds, AFC 39-1/1, Archives and Special Collections,
Western University (hereafter ASCWU).

484 Flexner, Medical Education, 322, 325, 323.
483 Abraham Flexner, Medical Education in the United States and Canada (Boston: Merrymount Press, 1910), x.
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municipal funding. These sources were often not enough to meet the hospital’s bills. London

General Hospital’s public ward opened in 1875 and was the only hospital that catered to the poor

in southwestern Ontario until the creation of the Ontario Health Insurance Plan in 1972.487

The First World War erupted in 1914 and the allocated provincial funds to build the

school dried up. Nevertheless, in 1917 the medical school raised $22,000 and purchased land on

the corner of Waterloo and Ottoway streets across from the now renamed Victoria Hospital. A

month following armistice in 1918, Mayor Charles Sommerville and London’s city council put

forward a by-law for $100,000 to assist the construction of the new school.488

The London Free Press pushed for London citizens to vote for this by-law. The city

argued for the economic benefit the new medical school would bring to London. The council

equated the medical school to be as financially significant as attracting industry to the city: “The

Medical School By-law is an expenditure which is calculated to make the city more attractive for

desirable people, who share our civic responsibilities and lessen municipal taxes.” The

advertisement continued, “show your interest in the city and help those who are trying to build a

better and bigger London.”489

As the Spanish influenza pandemic spread across Canada between 1918-19, pro-medical

school advertising targeted the emotions of London citizens by highlighting the need for medical

infrastructure and equated the heroism of doctors to returning veterans. A Free Press reporter

wrote that

This department of the university represents one of the most serviceable
of all the activities of life. Too much cannot be said of the self-sacrificing
devotion to the needs of the people during the recent epidemic, shown by
overworked physicians who were sometimes themselves the victims of the
disease they were trying to combat. No call was refused if human strength
permitted the physician to respond. In the same spirit as those who have
worked so heroically overseas to attempt to meet the almost superhuman
demands occasioned by the untold sufferings of the war, our medical men

489 “The Chamber of Commerce and the Medical School and Industrial By-laws,” London Free Press (hereafter
LFP), December 28, 1918, Collected Clippings of the History of the Faculty of Medicine 1916-1952, R749.U5821,
vol. 2, ASCWU.

488 Sullivan and Ball, Growing to Serve, 104, 105.

487 Marvin L. Simner, "The Story Behind the Ontario Health Insurance Plan and Its Impact on the Public Sector,"
(2020), 6, Scholarship@Western, https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/historypub/392/ (May 5, 2022).
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have been battling with a disease that is by no means easy to overcome.490

Pamphlets circulated across the city. The “Why Thinking Voters are

Supporting the Medical School By-law” pamphlet stated:

1. It will enable the workingman to give his boy or girl a profession at little expense.
2. Make London an educational centre, thereby increasing local property values.
3. New Medical School will be the property of the citizens of London,

as is Victoria Hospital, Public Library, etc.
4. Present students rendered invaluable service during the

influenza epidemic, conducting a hospital.
5. Over $90,000 spent in London during the past ten years by

out-of-town students alone for living expenses.
6. It will provide better training for doctors and nurses, and, therefore,

more efficient medical service for the wives and children of
workingmen.

7. Dozens of students are turned away annually because of lack of
accommodation.491

On January 1, 1919, the New Year rang with resounding support and construction for the

new medical school was approved. The construction was well underway by fall 1919,

anticipating that students could arrive in the new building in time for fall 1920.492 The new

Faculty of Medicine officially opened November 17, 1921 on Ottaway Avenue, where it

remained until 1965, when Victoria Hospital converted it into its Health Services Building.493

493 Murray Llewellyn Barr, A Century of Medicine at Western: A Centennial History of the Faculty of Medicine,
University of Western Ontario (London: University of Western Ontario, 1977), 430.

492 Sullivan and Ball, Growing to Serve, 105.

491 “Seven Reasons: Why Thinking Voters are Supporting the Medical By-law,” Collected Clippings of the History of
the Faculty of Medicine 1916-1952, ASCWU.

490 “The Medical School and the University,” London Advertiser, December 11, 1918, scrapbook, Collected
Clippings of the History of the Faculty of Medicine 1916-1952, ASCWU.
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6.3 The New Building

Designed by the London-based architectural firm Watt and Blackwell, the new building was a

state-of-the-art school and centre for medical research. Between the War Memorial Children’s

Hospital and the Gartshore Residence and School of Nursing, the Faculty of Medicine building

stood as one of the three properties that created a “handsome streetscape” along South Street.494

The building is E-shaped with three wings extending towards the rear, with rows of large,

bright windows extending around the circumference of the two floors. These windows were a

common design feature in twentieth-century school buildings, which aimed to reduce the amount

of artificial light needed.495 The building is two stories tall but designed so that a third story

could be added if necessary. The red brick surface extends the length of the building, contrasted

by an ashlar foundation, frontispiece, cornice, parapet, sills, and pilasters made of Indiana

limestone.

Auditorium, nd. Western University Medical School Collection, A04-015-002, AFC 409-S3, ASCWU.

495 Hobson, Heritage Impact Assessment, 7.
494 Megan Hobson, Heritage Impact Assessment: Health Services Building and Children’s War Memorial (2021), 10.
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The main entrance way includes neo-classical elements with an elaborately decorated

stone frontispiece, with two stone pilasters enclosing the main doors and a pronounced cornice

and parapet, which holds a simple cartouche that functions as a flagpole. Pilasters are spaced

between the windows of the corner pavilions, with stone bases, capitals, and brick bodies. Art

Deco-inspired stone blocks and diamonds decorate the cornices and parapet of the pavilions. The

main entrance way leads to a foyer and an elegant auditorium. East of the auditorium were

administrative offices, library, and histology and embryology sections of the Anatomy

department. To the west were rooms used by the Department of Pathology. The second floor held

the facilities for the departments of Physiology, Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and the rest of the

Department of Anatomy. There were three lecture rooms, two on the first floor and one on the

second; all three rooms could seat fifty students. Directly below the auditorium was the

gymnasium, and the rest of the basement held a students’ common room, lockers, and shower

rooms, the morgue, a carpentry and machine shop, a heating plant, and living quarters for, at

first, the stationary engineer and, later, the building superintendent, with their respective families.

The roof included cages for animals used in research.496

496 Tausky, Cultural Heritage Assessment, 121, 125, 123.
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6.4 Notable Faculty and Discoveries

The medical school housed notable individuals and their research findings.

Dr Frederick Banting (1891-1941): Sir Frederick Banting, known to the world as the scientist

who co-discovered insulin, also made discoveries during the Second World War. Banting

researched decompression chambers in collaboration with the Royal Canadian Air Force.

Students of the medical school were frequent test subjects. Installed in airplane cockpits, this

invention increased oxygen and reduced the likelihood of decompression sickness for pilots. He

collaborated with faculty member Dr George Hall, though the entire project was under the

supervision of Dr Kenneth Evelyn.497 Dr Banting died in service during the Second World War

when his flight to England crashed in the middle of Newfoundland for causes unknown.498

Dr Murray Barr (1908-95): After graduating from Western’s medical school in 1933, Barr

taught from 1936-77, and made several major discoveries in the field of human genetics. His

first, in 1949, was called chromatin, or inactive X-chromosomes found exclusively in female

mammals which help indicate sex. He discovered it with his colleague Dr Ewart Bertram.

Chromatin was a major discovery in the world of genetics. This finding eventually became

known as the “Barr Body.” In 1955, his second ground-breaking discovery he called the buccal

test. Co-discovered with Dr KL Moore, the buccal test is a smear test from the cheeks which

helps geneticists predetermine congenital disease. Barr was elected to the Royal Society of

Canada in 1958, and of London in 1971. He won a Joseph R Kennedy, Jr award for his role in

helping understand the role of genetics in intellectual disabilities in 1962. He also was nominated

for a Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. 499

Dr Charles Beer (1915-2010) and Dr Robert Noble (1910-90): Dr Charles Beer came from

Oxford University. Dr Robert Noble came from University of Toronto. Together in the Collip

Medical Research Laboratory in 1958 they successfully extracted and purified vinblastine–a

499 Murray Barr, MD, Canadian Medical Hall of Fame, https://cdnmedhall.ca/laureates/murray barr (March 15,
2022); Paul Potter and Hubert Soltan, “Murray Llewellyn Barr, O. C. 20 June 1908—4 May 1995,” Biographical
Memoirs of Fellows of the Royal Society 43 (1997): 44.

498 Grant Maltman, “Sir Frederick, It is Your Duty to Do So,” London and Middlesex Historian 21 (1995): 48.
497 Barr, Century of Medicine, 443, 444.
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